
 
 

City of Keene Planning Board  
 

AGENDA – AMENDED 
 

Monday, February 27, 2023   6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 

I. Call to Order – Roll Call 
 

II. Minutes of Previous Meetings – January 23, 2023  
 
III. Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 

 
IV. Extension Requests 

 
EXP-01-22 & CUHP-01-22 – Earth Excavation Permit – Gravel Pit, 0 Route 9 – Applicant Granite 
Engineering LLC, on behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, requests an extension to the deadline to satisfy the 
precedent conditions of approval for the Earth Excavation Permit & Hillside Protection Conditional Use 
Permit, EXP-01-22 & CUHP-01-22, for the proposed operation of a gravel pit on the property at 0 Route 9 
(TMP #215-007-000). The parcel is 84.71 ac and is located in the Rural District.  
 
S-08-22 – 2-lot Subdivision – 284-288 Hurricane Rd – Property owner Cory Graves requests an 
extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for the 2-lot subdivision, S-08-22, 
of the property at 284-288 Hurricane Rd (TMP #106-010-000). The parcel is 13.04 ac and is located in the 
Rural District.  
 
SPR-870, Modification #2 – Site Plan – Apartments, 310 Marlboro St – Applicant and property owner 
Randall Walter, requests an extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for 
the Major Site Plan application, SPR-870 Modification #2, for the proposed construct of a 48,460 sf, three-
story addition containing 57 apartments on the existing 86,689 sf, two-story building and associated site 
modifications on the property at 310 Marlboro St (TMP #595-001-000). The parcel is 4.25 ac and is located 
in the Business Growth and Reuse District.  

 
V. Public Hearings 

 
SPR-01-23 – Site Plan – Granite State Car Wash, 364 West St & 12 Pearl St - Applicant Aaron Wiswell, 
on behalf of owner Sandri Realty Inc., proposes to demolish the existing structures on the properties 
located at 364 West St (TMP #577-026-000) and 12 Pearl St (TMP #577-027-000), merge the lots, and 
construct a 2-bay car wash that is ~2,000 sf in size. Waivers are requested from Sec. 20.7.3.F.1.c of the 
Land Development Code regarding the requirement to reduce lighting levels by 50% overnight and Sec. 
20.6.2.B.1 regarding the requirement that drive-through windows and lanes shall not be located along the 
building frontage. The combined parcels are 0.60 acres and are located in the Commerce District.  
 
SPR-02-23 & SWP-CUP-01-23 – Site Plan & Surface Water Conditional Use Permit – Contractor 
Bays, 0 Black Brook Rd - Applicant Patriot Holdings LLC, on behalf of owner New England Interconnect 
Systems Inc., proposes to construct two buildings ~36,000 sf and ~25,200 sf in size for use as rental units 
for contractors and make associated site modifications on the properties at 0 Black Brook Rd (TMP #s 221-
023-000 & 221-024-000). Waivers are requested from Sections 20.14.1.B, 20.14.2.A, and 20.14.2.B of the 
Land Development Code regarding the massing/scale and visual appearance of the proposed buildings. 
The combined parcels are 12.57 acres and are located in the Corporate Park District.  
 

1 of 97



VI. Continued Public Hearing 
 
Amendments to the Planning Board Subdivision Regulations – The Planning Board proposes to 
amend its Subdivision Regulations in Article 19 of the City of Keene Land Development Code by amending 
Section 19.2.4 of Article 19, “preservation of existing features” to include additional information about the 
type of features that should be protected and possible requirements to protect those features; Section 
19.2.8, “Utilities” to include additional requirements for lots that would not have access to City sewer; and 
Section 19.3.2.B, “Perimeter Building Setback” of the Conservation Residential Development Subdivision 
Regulations to require that existing tree canopy within the perimeter setback along external roads shall be 
preserved. 

 
VII. Nomination of City Representative to SWRPC Board of Directors 

 
VIII. Master Plan Update Discussion 

 
IX. Staff Updates 

 
X. New Business 

 
XI. Upcoming Dates of Interest 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – March 13, 6:30 PM 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – March 14, 11:00 AM 
• Planning Board Site Visit – March 22, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
• Planning Board Meeting – March 27, 6:30 PM 

2 of 97



City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

 3 
 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 
Monday, January 23, 2023 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 
Members Present: 
Pamela Russell-Slack, Chair 
David Orgaz, Vice Chair  
Mayor George S. Hansel 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni 
Armando Rangel 
Harold Farrington 
 
Members Not Present: 
Emily Lavigne-Bernier 
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Kenneth Kost, Alternate 
Gail Somers, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Jesse Rounds, Community Development 
Director 
 

 9 
I) Call to Order - Roll Call 10 

 11 
Chair Russell-Slack called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. 12 
 13 
II) Election of Chair, Vice Chair and Steering Committee 14 

 15 
Vice-Chair Orgaz nominated Pamela Russell-Slack as Chair, himself as Vice-Chair and Harold 16 
Farrington as the third member of the Steering Committee. The nomination was seconded by 17 
Mayor George Hansel and was unanimously approved. 18 
 19 

III) Minutes of Previous Meeting – December 19, 2022 20 
 21 
Mr. Farrington noted his name is spelled incorrectly on Line 61 – should say Farrington not 22 
Harrington. 23 
 24 
A motion was made by Mayor Hansel to approve the December 19, 2022 minutes as amended. 25 
The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved.  26 

 27 
 28 
 29 

3 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 2 of 9 
 

IV) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 30 
 31 
There were no applications that were ready for a final vote by the Planning Board.  32 

V) Public Hearings 33 

 34 
SPR-790, Modification #1 – Site Plan – Summit Packaging Addition, 7 Krif Ct - Applicant 35 
Keach Nordstrom Associates Inc., on behalf of owner Summit Packaging Systems LLC, 36 
proposes to construct a ~6,400 sf addition to the existing 6,250 sf Summit Packaging Systems 37 
building and modify the parking lot, landscaping, utilities, and stormwater management 38 
systems on the property at 7 Krif Ct (TMP #118-002- 000). The parcel is 1.98 acres and is 39 
located in the Industrial District.  40 
 41 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 42 
Ms. Brunner stated the applicant requests exemptions from submitting a lighting plan, traffic 43 
analysis, soils analysis, historic evaluation, screening analysis, and architectural & visual 44 
appearance analysis. After reviewing each request, staff has determined that exempting the 45 
applicant from submitting this information would have no bearing on the merits of the application 46 
and recommends that the Planning Board grant these exemptions and accept the application as 47 
complete. 48 
 49 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to accept SPR-790, Modification #1 as complete. 50 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously approved. 51 
 52 
B. Public Hearing 53 
Mr. Chris Gallo of Summit Packaging stated this company has been in Keene for the past nine years 54 
but on Krif Road for the past four years. He noted that they are the largest aerosol manufacturer in 55 
the country. He stated the proposal before the Board today is to double their building footprint. This 56 
expansion will allow Summit Packaging to construct customized product lines of its own for a 57 
global operation. Mr. Gallo indicated currently they have staff setting up global operation in Europe.  58 
 59 
Staff comments were next. Community Development Director, Jesse Rounds, stated this a 1.98-60 
acre property located at the end of Krif Road. This proposal consists of the construction of a new 61 
6,400 square foot single story metal building. This site is surrounded by woods and wetlands to the 62 
west and south and industrial uses to the north.  63 
 64 
The proposal is for the construction a 6,400 square foot addition to the existing building as well as 65 
site improvements. The site improvements include replacing the existing driveway, formalizing the 66 
parking area, landscaping, and the expansion of the stormwater management system on the site. An 67 
above-ground propane tank is proposed to be relocated along the western side of the parking area 68 
and will be protected by concrete bollards. 69 
 70 
Mr. Rounds then addressed the Development Standards 71 
 72 
Drainage - The existing stormwater management system on the site consists of a swale with culverts 73 
that drain into a sediment forebay before flowing into above-ground infiltration basin located on 74 

4 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 3 of 9 
 

the southeastern portion of the property. In order to accommodate the proposed addition, the 75 
existing infiltration basin and sediment forebay will be modified and increased in size. Two 76 
additional above ground infiltration basins will also be installed, one along the westerly portion of 77 
the property and the second located in the southwest portion of the property will serve as 78 
compensatory flood storage in addition to stormwater management.  79 
 80 
Sediment & Erosion Control: An erosion control plan has been submitted with this proposal. The 81 
plan depicts a stabilized construction entrance to be installed where the proposed primary entrance 82 
to the new parking area will be located. Silt fence and silt socks are proposed for perimeter erosion 83 
control around areas of disturbance. Slopes will be stabilized with erosion control blankets and turf 84 
as needed. It appears that this standard has been met.  85 
 86 
Snow Storage & Removal: The proposed site plan has snow storage areas located in several areas 87 
around the proposed driveway and parking areas. These areas are located away from surface waters 88 
and the applicant states in their narrative that the areas are intended to allow for parking and site 89 
access to remain clear for safe passage. A note has been included on the plan regarding the removal 90 
of snow from the site when storage capacity has been exceeded. It appears that this standard has 91 
been met.  92 
 93 
Landscaping: The property currently contains 13 trees. The proposal includes the removal of one 94 
tree to make room for the redesigned parking area. The proposal also includes the installation six 95 
shrub varieties and four ornamental grasses along the walkway to the main entrance. The planting 96 
schedule indicates that all species were chosen based on the appropriate climate conditions for the 97 
region and no invasive species are proposed to be installed. The landscape plan shows that 98 
temporary fencing will be installed around the existing trees at the drip line to protect the root 99 
system from damage during construction. It appears that this standard has been met.  100 
 101 
Screening: A dumpster enclosure is proposed to be installed on the northern edge of the proposed 102 
hammerhead turn around. The dumpster enclosure is proposed to be six-foot-tall vinyl plank 103 
fencing with matching vinyl plank gates. The Zoning Administrator has determined that the parking 104 
area is existing and does not meet the threshold for new screening, therefore no screening of the 105 
parking area is required. It appears that this standard has been met. 106 
 107 
Lighting: The existing site does not have any pole lights for the parking area and the proposal does 108 
not include the installation of any new pole lights for the site. The only lighting for the exterior of 109 
the site consists of wall packs that are located above building entrances. The proposed wall packs 110 
are full cut-off fixtures. It appears that this standard has been met.  111 
 112 
Sewer & Water: The applicant states in their narrative that the site is currently serviced by municipal 113 
water and sewer and there are no proposed changes to the service lines as part of this application. 114 
This standard is not applicable. 115 
 116 
Traffic & Access Management: A Trip Generation Memo was submitted as part of this application. 117 
The memo states that the proposed addition will not increase the total number of employees at the 118 
business or deliveries the site will receive. The memo estimates 60 total weekday trips with eight 119 
trips during weekday A.M. peak and nine trips during weekday P.M. peak. The memo further states 120 

5 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 4 of 9 
 

that there are only 10 employees at any given time and that tractor trailers do not visit the site often. 121 
The analysis made a conservative estimation of 1 tractor trailer trip per day. Van deliveries are more 122 
common and visit the site approximately 2-5 times per day. The site utilizes two existing site access 123 
points off of the Krif Court cul-de-sac. The proposal intends to continue using both access points 124 
and plans to resurface the access point that leads to the parking area and proposed addition as part 125 
of proposed overall site improvements. It appears that this standard has been met.  126 
 127 
Filling & Excavation: The applicant states in their narrative the proposed addition and site work 128 
intends to utilize material on site as much as possible. They are anticipating minimal truck activity 129 
leaving or entering the site. Krif Court and Krif Road lead directly to Route 10 so any truck activity 130 
related to delivery or removal of earth material will have minimal impact on traffic and the area. It 131 
appears that this standard has been met.  132 
 133 
Surface Waters & Wetlands: The site has wetlands located along the southern and western property 134 
lines with 30-foot wetland buffers located within the site. The applicant has stated in their narrative 135 
that the proposal does not include any impact to surface waters or their buffers as part of this 136 
proposal. Erosion control measures are proposed to be placed between the edge of the buffers and 137 
the proposed limit of earth work to provide both siltation protection and a visual guide to prevent 138 
accidental grading within the buffer area. The Board may wish to include a condition of approval 139 
related to the inspection of the required erosion control measures prior to the start of site work. It 140 
appears that this standard has been met.  141 
 142 
Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant has stated in their narrative that that Summit 143 
Packaging Systems manufactures and distributes aerosol valves and actuators and that the facility 144 
is not intended or expected to receive, handle, or process any hazardous or toxic substances. It 145 
appears that this standard has been met.  146 
 147 
Noise: The applicant states in their narrative that the current use of the property will remain the 148 
same. The property is located at the end of a cul-de-sac with no adjacent residential uses. It appears 149 
that this standard has been met. 150 
 151 
Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed metal 152 
addition was designed to be cohesive with the existing facility. It also states that the addition will 153 
be compatible with the industrial character of the site and surrounding area. Color elevations have 154 
been submitted with the application. The Board will need to determine if this standard has been 155 
met.  156 
 157 
This concluded staff comments. 158 
 159 
Chair Russell-Slack clarified the rendering of the Architecture & Visual Appearance is what the 160 
applicant is intending the addition would look like. Mr. Gallo agreed. 161 
 162 
The Chair asked for public comment. With no public comment, the Chair closed public hearing. 163 
 164 
The Mayor thanked the applicant for continuing to invest in Keene and noted this site is located in 165 
an area that contains much industry and not an area that consists residential dwellings.  166 

6 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 5 of 9 
 

 167 
C. Board Discussion and Action 168 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel that the Planning Board approve SPR-790, Mod. 1 169 
as shown on the plan identified as “Summit Packaging Systems, LLC. Map 118 Lot 2, 7 Krif Court 170 
Keene, New Hampshire” prepared by Keach-Nordstrom Associates, Inc. at a scale of 1 in. = 20 ft. 171 
dated December 15, 2022 and last revised January 9, 2023 and the architectural elevations prepared 172 
by Lauer Architects, P.A. at a scale of 1/8 in. = 1 ft. dated January 4, 2023 with the following 173 
conditions:  174 

 175 
A. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 176 
conditions precedent shall be met:  177 

1. Submittal of security for sedimentation and erosion control and “as built” plans 178 
in a form and amount acceptable to the City Engineer.”  179 
2. Submittal of five full sized paper copies and one digital copy of the final plan. 180 

 181 
B. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 182 
conditions shall be met:  183 

1. Prior to the commencement of site work, the Community Development 184 
Department shall be notified when all erosion control measures are installed and 185 
the Community Development Director, or their designee, shall inspect the erosion 186 
control measures to ensure compliance with this site plan and all City of Keene 187 
regulations.” 188 

 189 
The motion was seconded by Vice-Chair Orgaz. 190 
 191 
Mr. Farrington stated he echoes what the Mayor said and based on testimony from staff and the 192 
applicant he is in favor of approving this application. The motion made by the Mayor carried on a 193 
unanimous vote.  194 
 195 
Amendments to the Planning Board Subdivision Regulations – The Planning Board proposes 196 
to amend its Subdivision Regulations in Article 19 of the City of Keene Land Development 197 
Code by amending Section 19.2.4 of Article 19, “preservation of existing features” to include 198 
additional information about the type of features that should be protected and possible 199 
requirements to protect those features; Section 19.2.8, “Utilities” to include additional 200 
requirements for lots that would not have access to City sewer; and Section 19.3.2.B, 201 
“Perimeter Building Setback” of the Conservation Residential Development Subdivision 202 
Regulations to require that existing tree canopy within the perimeter setback along external 203 
roads shall be preserved. 204 
 205 
Senior Planner, Mari Brunner, addressed the Board. Ms. Brunner stated these amendments are 206 
being proposed to address concerns raised by the public initially to change the minimum lot size 207 
in the rural district as well as changes to the Conservation Residential Development Subdivision 208 
Regulations. The lot size change has been separated out and will be introduced as a separate 209 
ordinance.  210 
 211 

7 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 6 of 9 
 

The first proposed change is to Section 19.2.4 – Preservation of Existing Features – Currently the 212 
language reads – “Wherever feasible, suitable steps shall be taken to preserve and protect 213 
significant existing features, such as surface waters, steep slopes, rare and/or unique scenic points, 214 
stone walls, rock out-croppings, and historic landmarks.” 215 

The proposed changes will give the Board more guidance and add to the list of features that should 216 
be protected (which include any of the attributes outlined in Section 19.3.4, which list all the 217 
primary and secondary conservation areas). Ms. Brunner stated this was a comment from a 218 
member of the public who felt it was great that the City has these primary and secondary 219 
conservation areas included in the Conservation Residential Development Subdivision 220 
Regulations, but who noted that they are not explicitly mentioned in Subdivision Regulations for 221 
all subdivisions. 222 

The language goes on to say the following: “In order to ensure that the objectives of this section 223 
are met, the Planning Board may require additional studies or mitigation, including but not limited 224 
to the following: 225 

1. The Board may require the submittal of a screening analysis, visual impact study, wildlife 226 
habitat study, historical evaluation, or other technical report prepared by a qualified 227 
professional.”  Ms. Brunner stated the Board is likely to require this only if it feels there is 228 
highest ranked habitat in New Hampshire on this site or if it is known to be a historical site. 229 

2. “The Board may require the designation of a “no-cut buffer” along public rights-of-way 230 
to preserve existing vegetation and provide a visual screen for new development. Any 231 
property that has been clear-cut within the preceding ten (10) year period, or any property 232 
that will be clear-cut as a result of any proposed or future development, may be required 233 
to conduct revegetation or other mitigation to provide a visual buffer along the public 234 
rights-of-way.” Ms. Brunner stated this again is an option in response to concerns raised 235 
by members of the public about the visual characteristics of roads in the Rural District. 236 

3. “The Board may require that the proposed development be designed and located to fit into 237 
the landscape in order to minimize significant landscape alterations and mitigate or avoid 238 
impacts to significant existing features or views/vistas”. 239 

Mayor Hansel clarified where these items are listed currently. Ms. Brunner stated item 1 came 240 
directly from the application procedure section (Article 25). The reason staff felt it would be 241 
helpful to list it here is when a developer hires a firm to go through the application process, they 242 
don’t often look at the application procedures. Items 2 and 3 are not specifically listed under the 243 
general Subdivision Regulations section. 244 
 245 
Ms. Brunner went on to say that the next change is to the Utility Section – Section 19.2.8. The 246 
current language states that when required by City Code, applicants have to connect to City water 247 
and sewer, except for in the Rural District and Low Density 1 District. Properties in the Low 248 
Density 1 District have to connect City sewer and potentially to City water if they are located next 249 
to a water line. 250 
 251 

A. An item C has been added which states, “In areas not currently served by City sewer, it 252 
shall be the responsibility of the applicant or their agent to provide:  253 

8 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 7 of 9 
 

a. Adequate information (from test pits and percolation tests) to prove that the land 254 
and area of each lot is adequate to permit the installation and operation of an 255 
individual sewage disposal system.  256 

b. For subdivisions with lots smaller than 5 acres, subdivision approval from the New 257 
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services shall be required. (Required by 258 
State)” 259 

 260 
Councilor Remy asked whether language should instead say, “must comply with NH DES 261 
Regulations on Subdivisions.” 262 
 263 
The Mayor asked with reference to percolation tests and test pits what standards they are 264 
measuring; what do they have to prove to the City. Ms. Brunner stated what the applicant is being 265 
asked to demonstrate is that the soil is suitable to site a septic system. She indicated this 266 
information is currently something the City requires for sites that don’t have City water and sewer. 267 
The Mayor did not feel this language was required as it would be a point of contention for people 268 
who want to fight a project.  The Mayor went on to say with reference to a wildlife habitat study 269 
– what is Board going to measure that against. The Chair referred to Section 19.2.8 and felt the 270 
reference to New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services should probably be retained 271 
in the language but did not see a reason for the rest. The Mayor felt perhaps the initial test pits and 272 
soils analysis that are completed for structural integrity should be sufficient. He added he did not 273 
want the City to require an applicant to complete a full septic design. Ms. Brunner stated that is 274 
not what is being requested; what is being requested is preliminary data to show that a septic 275 
system can be sited. The Mayor felt the Planning Board did not need to get involved in this 276 
requirement. He felt that if an applicant did not have a septic system, there is not going to be a 277 
building at that location. Installation of a septic system is going to need a permit and a contractor 278 
would have to sign off on it and questioned why the Board would have to stamp that as well. 279 
 280 
Ms. Brunner stated the role of the Planning Board is to make sure that each new lot is buildable; 281 
this is where the requirement is coming from. She added if the Board were to permit the creation 282 
of a new lot and it turns out a septic system could not be sited on that lot, the Board would have 283 
created a situation where there is hardship for the owner. Ms. Brunner added that New Hampshire 284 
is notorious for having bad soils and felt it was important to evaluate the site; it is the hope that 285 
anyone who is making the proposal would verify that a septic can be sited, but she noted that she 286 
felt it was also the Board’s responsibility to make sure the property is an appropriate site for a 287 
septic system. She added that it is common for Planning Board’s to require this information. Mr. 288 
Rounds added that there could be a letter added to the application that says a septic system could 289 
be located on a site and stamped by an engineer that would be sufficient for the Board. Ms. Brunner 290 
stated that would be acceptable. 291 
 292 
Mayor Hansel referred to Section 19.2.4 and stated he is struggling with the requirement for the 293 
submittal of a wildlife study; as a Board member what would he measure that against. Ms. Brunner 294 
stated this is already in the Board requirements under Article 25. She added this is to determine if 295 
there are any endangered species in the area and how they can be preserved. She added there are 296 
instances in the Rural District where there are endangered species of the highest tier and if a project 297 
impacts that highest tier, then the Board could require a wildlife study and noted that it might need 298 

9 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 8 of 9 
 

to be a case-by-case determination. The Mayor stated in that case the requirement should not be 299 
included here because it could then become a standard for every controversial project. 300 
 301 
Ms. Brunner next referred to Sec. 19.3.2.B of the LDC, which states that the existing Perimeter 302 
Building Setback has no requirement that it be vegetated or that they maintain existing vegetation. 303 
For a CRD there is the existing external road, then there is the tract of land, (50 % of the land needs 304 
to be placed in open space) and the remaining area could be divided into lots. There is also the 305 
perimeter area which has an increased setback, so the development has a buffer around the 306 
surrounding area and external road. Mayor Hansel asked even with the setback buffer, it does not 307 
change the calculation for impervious surface etc. Ms. Brunner clarified, today the language refers 308 
to building setback - what is proposed is if there is already a mature tree line along the road, that 309 
would have to be maintained and if it is cut down, then it would need to be revegetated. This area 310 
could count towards the open space calculation. 311 
 312 
This concluded staff comments.  313 
 314 
The Chair asked for public comment next. With no comments from the public the Chair closed the 315 
public hearing.  316 
 317 
The Chair asked whether there was a motion required for this item. Ms. Brunner explained because 318 
there were some suggested amendments, the Board should continue this item so that staff could 319 
bring back language for the Board to review at its next meeting. 320 
 321 
A motion was made  by Mayor George Hansel that the Planning Board continue this item to the 322 
Board’s next meeting on February 27 at 6:30 pm. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy 323 
and was unanimously approved.  324 
 325 

VI) Extension Request SPR-04-20 – Group Home – 169 Church St - Applicant and 326 
owner Christopher Farris, proposes to construct a 5,690-sf two-story, duplex-style 327 
group home with a habitable attic and a maximum occupancy of 24 people on the 328 
vacant lot located at 169 Church Street (TMP# 574-027-000). The site is 0.58 acres 329 
in size and is located in the High Density District. 330 

 331 
Board Discussion and Action 332 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel that the Planning Board table SPR-04-20, request 333 
for extension to the February 27TH Planning Board meeting. The motion was seconded by 334 
Councilor Michael Remy. The Councilor asked if the public hearing needs to be opened before it 335 
is continued and will it need to be re-noticed if it is tabled. 336 
 337 
Ms. Brunner stated this is an extension request as their approval will expire this month. For a first 338 
extension applicants are encouraged to attend the meeting, but it is not required. She went on to 339 
say this project was initially approved two years ago and received conditional approval from the 340 
Planning Board to construct a two-story duplex style group home (one half for men and the other 341 
half for women). There was a structure on the site that burned down. The applicant was able to get 342 
their plan signed within the time frame. What is being requested is an extension to achieve active 343 
and substantial development. Since the application was approved, the property has changed 344 

10 of 97



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 23, 2023 

Page 9 of 9 
 

ownership and the new owner is trying to figure out whether they want to move forward with the 345 
group home idea or a different development proposal. This will give them time to figure out what 346 
they want to do and prevent them from losing the prior approval.  347 
 348 
The Mayor made a second motion that the Planning Board grant a one year extension for SPR-04-349 
20. The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously approved. 350 
 351 
VI. Master Plan Update Discussion 352 
 353 
The item was tabled to the February meeting. 354 
 355 
VII. Staff Updates  356 
a. Overview of Administrative & Minor Project approvals issued in 2022.  357 
 358 
The Chair referred to #7 – roof top array for 310- Marlboro Street and asked which building this 359 
for was for. Ms. Brunner stated the array has already been installed on the lower portion of the 360 
roof closest to the road. 361 
 362 
The Chair referred to #14 and asked whether staff was keeping a close eye on this project. Ms. 363 
Brunner answered in the affirmative. 364 
 365 
The Chair referred to the items that still need to be addressed for the 100 Nights building. Ms. 366 
Brunner agreed the list does appear to be long but stated they are minor changes. When they 367 
applied for administrative approval, the only change was to the windows. The applicant also 368 
realized the walkway needed modification to meet ADA requirements.  369 
 370 
VIII. New Business  371 
There was no new business to be introduced.  372 
 373 
IX. Upcoming Dates of Interest  374 
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – February 13, 6:30 PM  375 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – February 14, 11:00 AM  376 
• Planning Board Site Visit – February 22, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  377 
• Planning Board Meeting – February 27, 6:30 PM 378 

 379 
There being no further business, Chair Russell-Slack adjourned the meeting at 7:30 PM. 380 
 381 
Respectfully submitted by, 382 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 383 
 384 
Reviewed and edited by, 385 
Megan Fortson, Planning Technician  386 

11 of 97



 
 
 
 
 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 

civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

February 9, 2023 
 
City of Keene 
Planning Board 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, New Hampshire 03431 
 
RE: Earth Excavation Permit Extension – EXP-01-22 
 Tax Map 215 Lot 7 
 Route 9 
 Keene/Sullivan/Roxbury, New Hampshire 
 GE Project No. 2302011 
 
Dear Ms. Brunner, 
 
On behalf of the applicants, G2 Holdings, LLC, we are requesting a 180-day extension 
on the conditional approval for an Earth Excavation Permit from the February 19, 2023, 
deadline. The extension request will allow an adequate timeframe to meet the 
conditions of approval set by the Planning Board on August 22, 2022. 
 
Condition 3 of the “Notification of Conditional Planning Board approval”, dated August 
23, 2022, provided a deadline of February 19, 2023. The extension request will allow an 
adequate timeline for G2 Holding, LLC to prepare and submit the “Security for 
landscaping, sedimentation, and erosion control, As-Built plans, and restoration in a 
form and amount acceptable to the Community Development Director and the City 
Engineer.” It is our understanding the City and applicant are working on final amounts 
for the security.  
 
Condition 8 of the “Notification of Conditional Planning Board approval”, dated August 
23, 2022, provided a deadline of February 19, 2023. G2 Holdings has hired Granite 
Engineering, LLC to perform the wetland buffer certification and inspections. Due to 
weather conditions, the wetland buffer certification cannot be completed until spring 
time to accurately access the site and provide a report including findings and required 
actions. The 180-day extension will allow for sufficient weather to accurately meet the 
condition.  
 
All other conditions of approval have been completed and verified by City Staff. All work 
on the premise, including processing of stockpiled material, has been ceased since a 
site inspection by a City Official on January 5, 2023.  
 
 
 
 

 

12 of 97

http://www.graniteeng.com/


Page 2 of 2 
 

 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

We trust you will find the extension request complete and ready for the Board’s 
consideration on February 27, 2023. Should you have any questions or require further 
information, please do not hesitate to contact me directly. 
 
 
 
Best Regards, 
 
 
 
 
 
Brenton Cole, P.E. 
Principal Engineer 
 

13 of 97

http://www.graniteeng.com/
tannerb
Stamp



1

Megan Fortson

From: Cory Graves <cory.graves.cg@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, February 17, 2023 10:09 AM
To: Megan Fortson
Subject: Subdivision Extension Request

Regarding S‐08‐22 
 
Dear Megan,  
 
Per our conversation this morning, I would request a formal extension to the above subdivision. The purpose for this 
extension is solely to coordinate signatures for the right away affidavit from the owners as of the right away, as well as 
the owners of the property. The difficulty that I have had is coordinating everybody to be available due to traveling 
schedules. My hopes are to be able to accomplish this in order to fulfill the notarized affidavit from all involved parts.  
 
Thank you for the consideration.  
 
Cory Graves.  

14 of 97



15 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

SPR-01-23 – Site Plan Review – Granite State Car Wash – 364 West Street & 12 Pearl Street 
 
Request: 
Applicant Aaron Wiswell, on behalf of owner Sandri Realty Inc., proposes to demolish the existing 
structures on the properties located at 364 West St (TMP #577-026-000) and 12 Pearl St (TMP #577-027-
000), merge the lots, and construct a 2-bay car wash that is ~2,000 sf in size. Waivers are requested from 
Sec. 20.7.3.F.1.c of the Land Development Code regarding the requirement to reduce lighting levels by 
50% overnight and Sec. 20.6.2.B.1 regarding the requirement that drive-through windows and lanes shall 
not be located along the building frontage. The combined parcels are 0.60 acres and are located in the 
Commerce District.  
 
Background: 
The two subject parcels for this 
application are 0.48 acres and 0.13 
acres in size for a total area of 0.61 
acres. The 0.48-acre parcel currently 
contains a former gas station that is 
currently being used as an auto 
detailing business. The 0.13-acre 
parcel currently contains a single-
family residence. Both buildings will 
be demolished, and the parcels 
merged as part of this proposal. The 
new lot will be 0.61 acres in size. 
 
The applicant is proposing to 
construct a 2,000 sq. ft. building to 
accommodate an automated car wash 
operation. The building will contain 
two automatic car wash tunnels, a 
small office, and a mechanical room. 
Four car vacuum stations are 
proposed on the west side of the 
property, adjacent to Pearl Street. The 
carwash is intended to operate 24 hours a day; however, the applicant states that the vacuum stations would 
operate between 7:00 am and 8:00 pm. 
 
The application includes two waiver requests. The first request seeks relief from the Board’s Lighting 
standard, Section 20.7.3.F.1.c of the Land Development Code regarding the requirements to reduce light 
levels to 50% overnight. The second request seeks relief from the Screening standard, Section 20.6.2.B.1 
of the Land Development Code regarding the requirement that drive-thru windows and lanes shall not be 
located along the building frontage or a façade with a primary entrance. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant requests exemptions from submitting a historic evaluation, screening analysis, and soils 
analysis. After reviewing each request, staff has determined that exempting the applicant from submitting 
this information would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommends that the Planning 
Board grant these exemptions and accept the application as “complete.” 
 

Fig 1: 364 West Street & 12 Pearl Street 

16 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards relevant 
to this application. 
 
20.2 Drainage:  The applicant states in their narrative that both subject parcels are fully developed and 

that their drainage patterns are well established. The properties currently allow water to flow across 
pavement and lawn into the City’s stormwater drains on both Pearl Street and West Street. The 
proposal will reduce lot coverage and incorporate on-site infiltration of stormwater runoff.  

Stormwater from the northern half of the site will be directed into a grass swale parallel with West 
Street that drains into a shallow infiltration area at the northeast corner of the property. For the 
southern half of the site, catch basins will collect stormwater flow and discharge to an infiltration 
basin located in the southeast corner of the property. The submitted stormwater report states that 
the post development conditions will have no adverse impacts to downstream abutters due to 
stormwater runoff from the proposal. There is no significant change in the stormwater pattern, with 
a slight decrease in stormwater runoff from the site. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: The Grading and Drainage Plan, sheet C-2 proposes to install silt 
fencing around the perimeter of the site and includes a stabilized construction entrance at the 
location of the permanent site access point on Pearl Street. Silt sock is proposed to protect the catch 
basins on site during construction. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.4 Snow Storage & Removal: The Site Plan, sheet C-1 shows snow storage areas along the eastern 
property line and to the north the of the proposed drive-thru lanes. The applicant states in their 
narrative that there is room for snow storage along the perimeter of the paved area. Excess snow 
will be removed the site after each snowstorm as needed. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.5 Landscaping: The Landscaping Plan, sheet LA-1 shows a selection of perennials, evergreens, and 
shrubs to be installed on the site. Most of the landscaping will serve as screening from the public 
right-of-way. An internal landscaping area is proposed along the southern façade of the building. 
This area will include Blue Rug Juniper, Happy Rose Daylily, and Heuchera. Rhododendron and 
Arborvitaes will be used for screening along the Pearl Street and West Street frontages. The 
proposed landscaping also includes the installation of 6 ornamental trees, 4 red leaf maples and two 
snowdrift crab apple trees. No invasive species are proposed. It appears that this standard has been 
met. 

20.6 Screening: The Site Plan, sheet C-1 shows a 6 ft. solid wood fence to be proposed along the southern 
and eastern property lines to screen the adjacent residential uses. Additionally, Rhododendron and 
Arborvitaes are proposed to be installed along the Pearl Street and West Street frontage to screen 
the parking and drive-thru facilities from the public right-of-way. The proposed dumpster enclosure 
will be a 6 ft. solid wood fence. 

The applicant has submitted a waiver request to provide relief from Section 20.6.2.B.1 of the Land 
Development Code, which states, “Drive-through windows and lanes shall not be located along 
the building frontage or along a building facade with a primary entrance.” The applicant states in 
their waiver request that the proposed site design is required in order to accommodate the decision 
to abandon the West Street curb cuts and force the building orientation to face Pearl Street. 

The Planning Board may grant a waiver from strict compliance with provisions of the Site 
Development Standards in Article 20 or site plan review standards in Section 25.12, on a case by-
case basis, so long as the Board finds, by majority vote, that: 

17 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver 
would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or 

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site plan, 
indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the regulations. 

The Board will need to determine if the waiver request meets the above criteria. 

20.7 Lighting: The Lighting Plan, sheet LT-1 shows 4 pole-mounted lights in the parking and drive-thru 
area and 5 wall-mounted lights on the proposed building. The poll lights will be full cutoff LED 
lights mounted 15 ft. from grade. The wall-mounted lights will be full cutoff LED lights mounted 
10 ft. from grade. The average light levels will be 1.32 footcandles at the vacuum stations and 1.12 
at the parking spaces. The uniformity ratios are 1.89:1 and 2.24:1 where the standard requires the 
ratios to not exceed 5:1. 

The applicant has submitted a waiver request to provide relief from Section 20.7.3.F.1.c of the Land 
Development Code, which states, “For 24-hour businesses, lighting levels shall be reduced by a 
minimum of 50% between the hours of 10:00 pm and 6:00 am.” The applicant states in their waiver 
request that reducing the light levels below 1 footcandle would create a potentially hazardous 
condition as the carwash will operate 24-hours and they expect customers after 10 PM. 

The Planning Board may grant a waiver from strict compliance with provisions of the Site 
Development Standards in Article 20 or site plan review standards in Section 25.12, on a case by-
case basis, so long as the Board finds, by majority vote, that: 

1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver 
would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or 

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site plan, 
indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the regulations. 

The Board will need to determine if the waiver request meets the above criteria. 

20.8 Sewer & Water: The applicant intends to use City water and sewer for the site. The 16 in. water 
main that runs under Pearl Street will be used. The existing 1 in. water service will be used for the 
carwash and a second water service line that extends from West Street will be used for irrigation.  

A 1,500 gal. oil/water separator will be utilized for the carwash wastewater pre-treatment prior to 
discharge to the sewer line under West Street utilizing a 6 in. service line. Wastewater from the 
bathroom will bypass the separator with a 4 in. line that will connect to the 6 in. sewer service line 
that discharges to the sewer main.  

The applicant states in their narrative that each carwash utilizes 35 gal. of water. The water is 
collected by floor drains in each tunnel then directed to the oil/water separator. With an expected 
average usage of 100 carwashes per day, the applicant estimates that 3,500 gal. of water will be 
used and discharged into the city sewer system. It appears that this standard has been met.    

20.9 Traffic & Access Management: The applicant states in their narrative that the site is a former gas 
station that has been used as an auto detailing shop. The existing traffic for the property has been 
very low. The proposed use will be a 24-hour carwash with approximately 200 trips per day. A 
traffic analysis prepared by Stephen G. Pernaw, P.E., PTOE was submitted which concludes that 
the trip generation during the PM peak hour period is expected to be 28 vehicle-trips, and the 

18 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

Saturday peak hour is expected to generate 61 vehicle-trips. Based on this expected increase in 
traffic volume, the analysis concludes the following: 

• “The Pearl Street approach to West Street will continue to operate below capacity during the 
weekday PM peak hour period with the car wash in full operation. 

• Car wash traffic is expected to increase the delays on the Pearl Street approach to West Street 
by approximately +3 seconds during the weekday PM peak hour period. 

• Car wash traffic is not expected to alter the prevailing Levels of Service during the weekday 
PM peak hour period (LOS D without the car wash, LOS D with the car wash). 

• Car wash traffic is expected to increase the 95th percentile queue on the Pearl Street approach 
to West Street by approximately 0.4 vehicles. 

• Applying the Saturday trip generation estimates to the weekday PM peak hour volumes 
(comparable to the Saturday peak hour volumes) confirms that the Pearl Street approach will 
continue to operate below capacity and at LOS E. The 95th percentile queue is expected to 
increase by approximately 1.0 vehicle during the Saturday peak hour.” 

Current site access includes two curb cuts along West Street and one curb cut along Pearl Street. 
The proposal includes the abandonment of the two curb cuts on West Street. New curbing will be 
installed at the former curb cuts and the sidewalk will be repaired with new concrete. The Pearl 
Street curb cut will be shifted 125 ft. away from the West Street intersection and improved to be 
used as the only site access point.  

The traffic analysis notes that there is sufficient queue storage for 4 vehicles on the Pearl Street 
approach to West Street without interfering with the proposed site driveway, and that this is more 
than sufficient because the 95th percentile queue is expected to be 2 vehicles during the worst-case 
peak hour period.  

 Site circulation allows for two-way travel from the site access point then one way travel around the 
building to the carwash tunnels on the eastern façade of the proposed building. Vehicles will exit 
the carwash tunnels from the western façade of the proposed building, then travel past the vacuum 
stations to leave the site at the same access point. The drive aisle by the vacuum stations is two-
way travel. 

 A Fire Truck Maneuvering Exhibit has been submitted with the application. The exhibit shows that 
a Fire Department ladder truck would be able to enter the site and perform a three-point turn in 
order to turn around and leave the site. In most cases, fire equipment would remain on either Pearl 
Street or West Street instead of entering the site. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.10 Filling & Excavation: The applicant states in their narrative that minor filling and excavation will 
be required for this proposal. Trucks will haul material from NH route 12 to West Street to the 
building site. The applicant estimates that 300 cu. Yd. of material will travel to and from the site. 
It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: There are no surface waters or wetlands located on the subject 
properties. The applicant states in their narrative that the Ashuelot River is located 400 ft. east of 
the proposal and will not be affected by the development. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant states in their narrative that they have no knowledge 
of hazardous or toxic materials at the site. It appears that this standard has been met. 

19 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

20.13  Noise: This standard requires all proposed uses or development to comply with the City’s Noise 
Ordinance and the Noise Limits in Article 17 of the LDC, and further states that development shall 
be sited or designed to minimize sound or noise impacts with consideration for surrounding land 
uses.   

The applicant states that they located the car vacuums next to Pearl Street to maximize the distance 
between the residential uses to the south and east and the vacuum stations. A 6 ft. tall solid fence 
and landscaping is proposed to both screen and dampen the noise of the carwash operation from 
the adjacent residential uses to the east and south; however, it should be noted that the 6-ft fence is 
not expected to have a minimal impact on the noise levels for the second story of adjacent buildings. 
To further mitigate noise levels, the applicant is proposing to limit the hours that the vacuums can 
be used. The vacuums will only operate from 7AM to 8 PM. The Board will need to determine if 
additional information is required to determine whether this standard has been met. A condition of 
approval related to hours of operation for the vacuums is proposed with the recommended motion 
language. 

20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: 
The applicant states in their narrative 
that the proposed carwash will be a 
small, 2,000 sq. ft. single story building 
with a pitched roof. The eastern and 
western facade of the building will 
contain two overhead doors providing 
access to the wash tunnels. A single 
passage door will provide access to the 
small office and mechanical room. The 
building walls will be made of a 
Nuform polymer-based block material 
that is waterproof. The building will be 
14 ft. from the top of the foundation to 
the peak of the roof.  

 
The color will be light gray. The roof 
will be an 8:12 pitch with asphalt 
shingles, also in gray. The doors and 
trim will be dark gray in color. A small 
cupola will be placed on the roof to 
give the building a traditional New 
England design that the applicant feels 
is appropriate for the area. The 
Planning Board will need to determine 
if this standard has been met.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig 2: Front elevation (Pearl Street façade). 

Fig 3: Side elevation (West Street façade). 

20 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

Recommended Motions for Waivers:  
If the Board is inclined to grant the requested waivers, the following language is recommended for a 
motion: 

Waiver Request #1: “Grant a waiver from Section 20.7.3.F.1.c of the Land Development Code regarding 
the requirement to reduce lighting levels by 50% overnight.” 

Waiver Request #2: “Grant a waiver from Section 20.6.2.B.1 of the Land Development Code regarding the 
requirement that drive-through windows and lanes shall not be located along the building frontage.” 

 
Recommended Motion for Application:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for a motion:  

“Approve SPR-01-23 as shown on the plan identified as “Granite State Car Wash 364 West Street & 12 
Pearl Street Keene, New Hampshire” prepared by SVE Associates and Brickstone Land Use Consultants. 
at a scale of 1 in. = 20 ft. dated January 17, 2023 and last revised February 7, 2023 and the architectural 
elevations prepared by J.W.H. Drafting & Design at a scale of 1/4 in. = 1 ft. dated December 7, 2022 with 
the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 
precedent shall be met: 

A. Submittal of security for sedimentation and erosion control and “as built” plans in a 
form and amount acceptable to the City Engineer.” 

B. Addition of a note on the plan stating “The hours of operation for the Vacuum Stations 
shall be 7:00 AM to 8:00 PM” 

C. Submittal of five full size paper copies and one digital copy of the final plan. 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 
conditions shall be met: 

A. Prior to the commencement of site work, the Community Development Department 
shall be notified when all erosion control measures are installed and the Community 
Development Director, or their designee, shall inspect the erosion control measures to 
ensure compliance with this site plan and all City of Keene regulations.”  

 

21 of 97



22 of 97



23 of 97



24 of 97



25 of 97



26 of 97



27 of 97



28 of 97



29 of 97



30 of 97



Locus Map
1"=2,000'±

Keene
New Hampshire

Keene by-pass

Main Street

West Street

Winchester Street

Court Street

Island Street

Rt
s 9

, 1
0 &

 12

Key Rd.

Pe
ar

l
St

re
et

Pearl
Street

Granite State Car Wash
364 West Street & 12 Pearl Street,  KEENE, NEW  HAMPSHIRE

PREPARED BY
Project K2752

Sandri Realty Inc.

January 17, 2023

Aaron Wiswell

PHONE (603) 357-0116
KEENE, NH 03431

Development Consultant:

185 WINCHESTER ST.

Brickstone Land Use Consultants

PHONE (802) 257-0561
BRATTLEBORO, VT 05302

Civil Engineer:

439 WEST RIVER ROAD

SVE Associates

revised thru February 7, 2023

2/7/23

31 of 97



[577-029-000]

[577-025-000]

[577-022-000]

[577-021-000]

[577-037-000]

[577-036-000]

[577-044-000]

[577-045-000]

[577-046-000]

[577-028-000]

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

OWNER:

PLANNER:

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

PLANNER:

SCALE:  1"=20'

SHEET  D-1

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

DEMOLITION
PLAN

SANDRI REALTY INC
400 CHAPMAN STREET
GREENFIELD, MA 01301

GRANITE STATE
CAR WASH
364 WEST STREET &
12 PEARL STREET
KEENE, NH

TAX MAP NUMBERS
577-026-000 & 577-027-000

ENGINEER:

SVE 2022

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

APPLICANT:

AARON WISWELL
9 WHITE PINE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03906

DATE:  JANUARY 17, 2023

REV. 1, 2-7-23
3
4" WATER  SERVICE TO BE REMOVED

2/7/23

32 of 97



[577-029-000]

[577-025-000]

[577-022-000]

[577-021-000]

[577-037-000]

[577-036-000]

[577-044-000]

[577-045-000]

[577-046-000]

[577-028-000]

S4

S4

S4

S4

W1

W1

W1
W1

W1

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

OWNER:

PLANNER:

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

PLANNER:

SCALE:  1"=20'

SHEET  C-1

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

SITE
PLAN

SANDRI REALTY INC
400 CHAPMAN STREET
GREENFIELD, MA 01301

GRANITE STATE
CAR WASH
364 WEST STREET &
12 PEARL STREET
KEENE, NH

TAX MAP NUMBERS
577-026-000 & 577-027-000

APPLICANT:

AARON WISWELL
9 WHITE PINE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03906

ENGINEER:

SVE 2022

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

DATE:  JANUARY 17, 2023

REV. 1-
2/7/23 PB STAFF COMMENTS

2/7/23

33 of 97



Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

OWNER:

PLANNER:

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

PLANNER:

SCALE:  1"=20'

SHEET C-2

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

GRADING &
 DRAINAGE PLAN

SANDRI REALTY INC
400 CHAPMAN STREET
GREENFIELD, MA 01301

GRANITE STATE
CAR WASH
364 WEST STREET &
12 PEARL STREET
KEENE, NH

TAX MAP NUMBERS
577-026-000 & 577-027-000

APPLICANT:

AARON WISWELL
9 WHITE PINE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03906

ENGINEER:

SVE 2022

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

DATE:  JANUARY 17, 2023

REV. 1-
2/7/23 PB STAFF COMMENTS

2/7/23

34 of 97



35 of 97



36 of 97



[577-029-000]

[577-025-000]

[577-022-000]

[577-021-000]

[577-037-000]

[577-036-000]

[577-044-000]

[577-045-000]

[577-046-000]

[577-028-000]

S4

S4

S4

S4

W1

W1

W1
W1

W1

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

OWNER:

PLANNER:

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

PLANNER:

SCALE:  1"=20'

EXHIBIT A

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

FIRE TRUCK
MANEUVERING

EXHIBIT

SANDRI REALTY INC
400 CHAPMAN STREET
GREENFIELD, MA 01301

GRANITE STATE
CAR WASH
364 WEST STREET &
12 PEARL STREET
KEENE, NH

TAX MAP NUMBERS
577-026-000 & 577-027-000

APPLICANT:

AARON WISWELL
9 WHITE PINE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03906

ENGINEER:

SVE 2022

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

DATE: FEBRUARY 7, 2023

2/7/23

37 of 97



Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

OWNER:

PLANNER:

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

PLANNER:

SCALE:  1"=20'

SHEET  D-1

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

PRE
DEVELOPMENT
DRAINAGE PLAN

SANDRI REALTY INC
400 CHAPMAN STREET
GREENFIELD, MA 01301

GRANITE STATE
CAR WASH
364 WEST STREET &
12 PEARL STREET
KEENE, NH

TAX MAP NUMBERS
577-026-000 & 577-027-000

ENGINEER:

SVE 2022

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

APPLICANT:

AARON WISWELL
9 WHITE PINE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03906

DATE:  JANUARY 17, 2023

1/17/23

38 of 97



Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

OWNER:

PLANNER:

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

Brickstone
Land Use Consultants, LLC

REVISIONS:

PLANNER:

SCALE:  1"=20'

SHEET D-2

Site Planning, Permitting and Development Consulting
185 Winchester Street, Keene, NH  03431
Phone: (603) 357-0116

SANDRI REALTY INC
400 CHAPMAN STREET
GREENFIELD, MA 01301

GRANITE STATE
CAR WASH
364 WEST STREET &
12 PEARL STREET
KEENE, NH

TAX MAP NUMBERS
577-026-000 & 577-027-000

APPLICANT:

AARON WISWELL
9 WHITE PINE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03906

ENGINEER:

SVE 2022

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

POST
DEVELOPMENT
DRAINAGE PLAN

DATE:  JANUARY 17, 2023

1/17/23

39 of 97



J W H

40 of 97



 

1 
2251A 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

 

Ref: 2251A 

To: Jim Phippard, Member 
 Brickstone Land Use Consultants, LLC    

From: Stephen G. Pernaw, P.E., PTOE 

Subject: Proposed Granite State Car Wash  
               Keene, New Hampshire 

Date: February 13, 2023  

Thank you for forwarding the site plan for the proposed car wash facility on West Street, along 
with your request for us to provide a response to the Engineering Department’s traffic comments.  
More specifically, Comment #7 reads: “Engineering recommends that a traffic count be 
performed, particularly a count of the number of vehicles waiting to complete a left turn 
maneuver and a determination of the average queue length, maximum queue length and 
maximum back of queue at the intersection of Pearl Street and West Street. The traffic study must 
address how the onsite traffic circulation will operate.”  

To that end, our office conducted an intersection turning movement count on Wednesday, 
February 8, 2023 to monitor the turning movements to/from Pearl Street and to observe vehicle 
queuing on the Pearl Street approach to West Street. Our office also prepared trip generation 
estimates for the proposed car wash site, and evaluated intersection capacity, and Level of 
Service and evaluated vehicle queuing in order to “demonstrate that the project will not diminish 
the capacity or safety of existing city streets …” as mentioned in the Departments Comment #5. 

Proposed Development – According to the plan entitled “Site Plan” prepared by SVE 
Engineering, dated January 17, 2023 (no revisions) the proposed building has a gross floor area 
of 2,000 sf and it will provide two automated wash tunnels (see Attachment 1). The site was 
formerly occupied by an auto detailing business, and previously as a gasoline service station. 

In terms of vehicular access, the two existing site driveways on West Street will be closed, and 
the existing site driveway on Pearl Street will be relocated at the southerly limits of the site in 
order to maximize its separation from West Street.  

Existing Conditions – West Street provides two travel lanes in each direction, and Pearl Street 
intersects it at a 90-degree approach angle with one travel lane in each direction. The Pearl Street 
approach to West Street operates under stop sign control.  The speed limit on West Street is 
posted at 30 mph in both directions.   

41 of 97



 

2 
2251A 

Existing Traffic Volumes - According to NHDOT data, this section of West Street (at Ashuelot 
River Bridge) carried an Annual Average Weekday Traffic volume of 15,082 vehicles per day 
(vpd) in 2021, down from 19,323 vpd in 2019 (pre-pandemic).  This current location is located 
0.1 miles east of the subject site (see Attachment 2). 

In August 2020 the peak hour period on weekdays occurred during the midday (12-1 PM typical) 
and again from 3-4 PM or 4-5 PM.  The two-way traffic volume on West Street averaged 1,331 
vehicles per hour (vph) during the midday peak hour, and 1,287 vph during the evening peak 
hour.  The Saturday daily volume was lower at 13,994 vpd, but the Saturday midday peak hour 
(from 12-1 PM) was comparable to the weekday evening peak hour with a  total of 1,359 
vehicles traveling in both directions.  The diagrams on Page 3 summarize the daily and hourly 
variations in traffic flow on West Street (see Attachments 3-4).   

The turning movement counts were conducted in February 2023 are summarized on Figure 1.  
West Street (west of Pearl Street) carried 1,416 vehicles during the midday peak hour (12-1 PM) 
and 1,743 vehicles during the PM peak hour (3:45 to 4:45 PM).  Pearl Street accommodated 124 
(Midday) and 181 (PM) vehicles during the peak hour periods. The majority of vehicles using 
Pearl Street travel to/from points west on West Street.  This means right-turn arrivals and left-
turn departures at Pearl Street are the predominant turning movement patterns (see Attachment 
5). 

42 of 97



 

2251A 5 

Vehicle Delays - Vehicles on the Pearl Street approach to West Street operate under stop sign 
control.  The delay associated with each approaching vehicle was monitored during the 12:00 to 
1:00 PM and 3:45 to 4:45 PM peak hour periods (see Attachments 6-10).  The results are 
summarized below: 

Midday Peak Hour: 
 
 
 
 
Evening Peak Hour:  

Left-Turn Departures  Right-Turn Departures 

Min Delay  0:00:02  Min Delay  0:00:01 

Max Delay  0:02:05  Max Delay  0:01:23 

Avg Delay  0:00:33  Avg Delay  0:00:20 

It should be noted that these delay measurements are all inclusive in that they were measured 
from the time of arrival at the back of queue (if present) to the departure time from the stop line.  

Vehicle Queuing – Vehicle queues on the Pearl Street approach to West Street ranged from 0-3 
vehicles during the midday peak hour, and from 0-5 vehicles during the evening peak hour.  In 
all cases, the most frequent queue length was 0 vehicles. The next most common queue length 
was 1 vehicle (see Attachments 11-15).   

 

  
In the cases where a maximum queue of 3 vehicles (midday) and 5 vehicles (evening) were 
observed, it should be noted that these instances were of short duration.  Both graphs show that 
the maximum queues dissipated quickly, back to 0 vehicles.  Attachment 22 shows that a queue 
of 4 vehicles does not block the proposed site driveway.   
 
  
 
 
 
 

Left-Turn Departures  Right-Turn Departures 

Min Delay  0:00:01  Min Delay  0:00:01 

Max Delay  0:00:55  Max Delay  0:00:34 

Avg Delay  0:00:23  Avg Delay  0:00:10 
 
       

43 of 97



 

2251A 6 

Trip Generation – To estimate the quantity of vehicle-trips that are expected to be generated by 
the proposed car wash building, Pernaw & Company, Inc. considered the standard trip generation 
rates published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE)1.  Table 1 summarizes the 
results of this analysis and the derivation of these estimates is attached (see Attachment 16-18).   

This analysis demonstrates that the proposed car wash is expected to generate approximately 28 
vehicle-trips (14 arrivals, 14 departures) during the weekday PM peak hour period.  On 
Saturdays, approximately 61 vehicle-trips are expected. It should be noted that traffic demand at 
a car wash facility is highly dependent upon weather conditions.    
 

 

Traffic Operations - Traffic operations on the Pearl Street approach to West Street were 
evaluated using a “before-after” comparison based on the site generated traffic volumes from 
Table 1, and a worst-case situation where all site customers travel to/from the site via West 
Street (none via Pearl Street).  The Pearl Street approach was analyzed in terms of its: 1) volume-
to-capacity ratio, 2) control delay, 3) Level of Service and 4) 95th percentile queues based on 
Highway Capacity Manual methodologies (see Attachments 19-21).  
 

 

 
1 Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation, 11th edition (Washington, D.C., 2021). 

      Weekday PM Peak Hour 2

Entering 14 veh
Exiting 14 veh
Total 28 trips

Entering 12 veh
Exiting 11 veh
Total 23 trips

Entering 30 veh
Exiting 31 veh
Total 61 trips

1 LUC 948 - Automated Car Wash - trip rate method (2,000 sf)

2 One hour between 4 - 6 PM

Table 1

Automated Car 

Wash 1

       PM Generator Peak Hour

       Saturday Peak Hour

Trip Generation Summary 

Weekday PM        

No-Build 1
Weekday PM     

Build 2
Weekday PM         

w /Saturday Gen 3

      Volume to Capacity Ratio 0.28 0.36 0.45

     Control Delay 30.1 33.3 38.3

     Level of Service D D E

     95th Percentile Queue 1.1 1.5 2.1

1 2/8/23 Vo lumes     2 2/8/23 Vo lumes with 28 trips     3 2/8/23 Vo lumes with 61 trips    

Table 2
STOP-Controlled Intersection Capacity Analysis 

(Pearl Street Approach to West Street)

44 of 97



 

2251A 7 

From the analyses summarized in Table 2 it is reasonable to conclude that:  

 The Pearl Street approach to West Street will continue to operate below capacity during the 
weekday PM peak hour period with the car wash in full operation. 

 Car wash traffic is expected to increase the delays on the Pearl Street approach to West Street by 
approximately +3 seconds during the weekday PM peak hour period. 

 Car wash traffic is not expected to alter the prevailing Levels of Service during the weekday PM 
peak hour period (LOS D without the car wash, LOS D with the car wash). 

 Car wash traffic is expected to increase the 95th percentile queue on the Pearl Street approach to 
West Street by approximately 0.4 vehicles. 

 Applying the Saturday trip generation estimates to the weekday PM peak hour volumes 
(comparable to the Saturday peak hour volumes) confirms that the Pearl Street approach will 
continue to operate below capacity and at LOS E.  The 95th percentile queue is expected to 
increase by approximately 1.0 vehicle during the Saturday peak hour. 

Attachment 22 shows that there is sufficient queue storage for 4 vehicles on the Pearl Street 
approach to West Street without interfering with the proposed site driveway.  This is considered 
more than sufficient as the HCM analyses demonstrate that the 95th percentile queue is projected 
to be approximately 2 vehicles during the worst-case peak hour period. 

Recommendations:  Recognizing that the maximum queue length observed on Pearl Street (5 
vehicles once; very short duration) does have the potential to temporarily interfere with vehicles 
entering/exiting the site driveway, consideration should be given to:  

1. Installation of a “STOP” sign (MUTCD #R1-1) on the site driveway approach to Pearl 
Street. 

2. Installation of a “DO NOT BLOCK INTERSECTION” sign (MUTCD # R10-7) on the 
southeast corner of the Pearl Street/Proposed Site Driveway intersection, facing 
northbound vehicles on Pearl Street. 

3. Installation of “Do Not Block” intersection markings on Pearl Street (MUTCD Option 
B), per Attachment 22. 

Conclusions: 

1. Elimination of the two existing site driveways on West Street and providing site access 
via the minor street (Pearl Street) is a beneficial and appropriate access management 
technique that will eliminate several conflict points and reduce “side friction” along the 
West Street corridor. 

2. The proposed relocation of the existing site driveway on Pearl Street is ideal from an 
access management standpoint as it maximizes its separation from West Street. 

3. Storage for vehicle queues at the Pearl Street stop sign increases to 4 vehicles with the 
proposed driveway location; this exceeds the estimated 95th percentile queue of 2 
vehicles.      

 

45 of 97



Page 1 of 2 

1/9/2023 

 

 

SVE Associates 

Engineer ing       *        Surveying       *        Landscape Archicture        *         P lanning  
P.O. Box 1818, Brattleboro, VT 05302       Phone:  (802) 257−0561       Fax (802) 257−0721      E−mail svek@sveassoc.com 

P:\Project\NH PROJECTS\K2752 Granite State Car Wash\Hydrocad\K2752 Drainage Summary PB.doc 

Drainage Summary 
 

for 

 

Granite State Car Wash 

364 West Street & 12 Pearl Street, Keene, NH 

 
Prepared by SVE Associates 

January 9, 2023 

 

 

A comparison of peak stormwater runoff for the 25-year rainfall events in the post-development 

conditions was completed by SVE Associates using HydroCad 10.0 software.  The storm event used in 

the model was Type III, 24-hour storm with the following rainfall depths for Keene, NH: 

 

25 Year Event: 4.92 inches 

 

OVERVIEW: 

This project will consist of redeveloping the 364 West Street & 12 Pearl Street properties, removing the 

existing curb cuts, former gas station buildings, canopy, residence and water and sewer services, and the 

construction of the Granite State 2 bay car wash facility that includes a one-story building, associated 

parking, and travel isles.   

 

EXISTING CONDITIONS: 

The existing conditions of these properties to be merged include the former gas station and a residence. 

Currently a portion of the stormwater runoff sheet flows to the catch basins in West Street, sheet flows 

to the east property line, sheet flows to the south property line and sheet flows to Pearl Street.  

 

PROPOSED CONDITIONS: 

The proposed conditions, modeled in the “Post-Development” drainage model, consist of the proposed 

car wash building, parking areas and travel isles.  With the redevelopment, stormwater runoff will sheet 

flow away from the proposed car wash building to the north and be collected in the shallow v-shaped 

grass swale and infiltrate in the northeast corner of the lot. Stormwater will sheet flow from south of the 

carwash to a infiltration trench (perforated pipe and stone) under the pavement. The portion of 

stormwater runoff that sheet flows to the west of the car wash building will sheet flow to Pearl Street. 

The infiltration rate used for the infiltration basin and infiltration trench (3 in/hr) is half of the published 

Ksat value (6 in/hr). 

 

 

 

 

46 of 97



Page 2 of 2 

1/9/2023 

 

 

SVE Associates 

Engineer ing       *        Surveying       *        Landscape Archicture        *         P lanning  
P.O. Box 1818, Brattleboro, VT 05302       Phone:  (802) 257−0561       Fax (802) 257−0721      E−mail svek@sveassoc.com 

P:\Project\NH PROJECTS\K2752 Granite State Car Wash\Hydrocad\K2752 Drainage Summary PB.doc 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25 year 

Existing Proposed 

Runoff 
(cfs) 

Runoff 
(cfs) 

Summary 
Node 
100R 

0.82 0.21 

Summary 
Node 
101R 

0.78 0.57 

Summary 
Node 
102R 

0.03 0 

Summary 
Node 
103R 

0.17 0 

 

 

CONCLUSION: 

 

There will be no adverse impact to downstream abutters due to stormwater runoff from the facility. 

Overall, there is no significant change in stormwater runoff post development, just a slight decrease in 

stormwater runoff. 

 

47 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

SPR-02-23& SWP-CUP-01-23 – Site Plan Review – Contractor Storage Development – 0 Black 
Brook Road 

 
Request: 
Applicant Patriot Holdings LLC, on behalf of owner New England Interconnect Systems Inc., proposes to 
construct two buildings ~36,000 sf and ~25,200 sf in size for use as rental units for contractors and make 
associated site modifications on the properties at 0 Black Brook Rd (TMP #s 221-023-000 & 221-024-000). 
Waivers are requested from Sections 20.14.1.B, 20.14.2.A, and 20.14.2.B of the Land Development Code 
regarding the massing/scale and visual appearance of the proposed buildings. The combined parcels are 
12.57 acres and are located in the Corporate Park District. 
 
Background: 
The two subject parcels for this application are 5.33 acres and 7.24 acres in size for a total area of 12.57 
acres. The parcels are undeveloped and located on the southeastern side of the Black Brook Road cul-de-
sac, adjacent to Black Brook to the south and Janos Technology Inc. located at 55 Black Brook Road to the 
north.  
 
The proposal consists of 
merging the two building 
lots and constructing two 
new buildings with a 
driveway and associated 
parking. The proposed 
buildings are intended to 
be used as modular 
contractor storage units. 
Each unit is 30’x60’ in 
size and will include a 
small office area and 
restroom facilities. The 
northern building will be 
36,000 sq. ft. with 20 
units and the southern 
building will be 25,200 
sq. ft. with 14 units. 
 
The development of this proposal will consist of approximately 250,000 sq. ft. of land disturbance and 
128,022 sq. ft. of new impervious surface. An Alteration of Terrain permit reviewed and issued by the NH 
Department of Environmental Services (NHDES) will be required.  
 
Two waiver requests have been submitted with this proposal from Sections 20.14.1.B, 20.14.2.A, and 
20.14.2.B of the Land Development Code regarding the massing/scale and visual appearance of the 
proposed buildings. 
 
The application includes a request for a Conditional Use Permit to allow the construction of a driveway 
within the 30-foot Surface Water Protection buffer. Per Section 11.6.3.A of the LDC, the CUP Application 
has been referred to the Conservation Commission and will be reviewed at their meeting on February 21. 
Staff will share any recommendations from the Conservation Commission at the Planning Board meeting. 
 

Fig 1: The subject properties located at 0 Black Brook Road 

48 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

Completeness: 
The applicant requests exemptions from submitting an historic evaluation, screening analysis, and 
architectural & visual appearance analysis. After reviewing each request, staff has determined that 
exempting the applicant from submitting this information would have no bearing on the merits of the 
application and recommends that the Planning Board grant these exemptions and accept the application as 
“complete.” 
 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards relevant 
to this application.  
 
20.2 Drainage:  The applicant states in their narrative that the stormwater will be managed according to 

NHDES Alteration of Terrain standards. The Grading & Drainage Plan, sheet GR-1 shows the 
proposed stormwater management area located to the southeast of the building site. Three catch 
basins are proposed to collect stormwater from the parking area and drive aisles and outfall into 
two grass swales proposed on the site. The first grass swale will collect runoff from the parking 
area and guide it into the stormwater management area. A stone check dam is proposed to reduce 
the velocity of the flow before entering the area. The second grass swale is proposed to the east of 
the parking area to direct runoff to the same management area. 

 Along the proposed driveway entrance to the site a grass swale will collect runoff from the driveway 
and direct it southerly to the flood compensation area. This swale is located between the driveway 
and the wetland finger that runs parallel with Black Brook Road. The submitted drainage report 
states that the post development conditions will result in qualitative treatment of all new impervious 
areas and that there will be a reduction in peak rates of runoff leaving the site for all storm events. 
It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: The Grading & Drainage Plan, sheet GR-1 shows the proposed 
installation of silt fence around the work site. This includes double silt fencing along the Black 
Brook. Additional measures include erosion control matting, stone check dams, rip-rap stone 
aprons, and a stabilized construction entrance. The proposed sediment and erosion control measures 
will also be reviewed by NHDES as part of the Alteration of Terrain permit. A condition of approval 
relating to inspections of erosion control measures is proposed as part of the suggested motion. It 
appears that this standard has been met.   

20.4 Snow Storage & Removal:  The Site Plan, sheet SP-1 shows the proposed location of a snow storage 
area along the eastern side of the truck turn-around area. The applicant states in their narrative that 
this area is large enough to provide snow storage for the site. Run off from the snow storage area 
will be accepted into the stormwater management area. A note on the plan states that any snow that 
will not be accommodated by the on-site snow storage will be trucked off-site.  It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20.5 Landscaping: The parking lot landscape islands will have a mix of perennial daylily’s, hostas, and 
echinacea coneflowers in addition to the required parking lot trees. The proposed trees include 4 
red maples, 4 weeping willows, and 4 hawthorns. Rhododendrons, silky dogwood, and winterberry 
shrubs are proposed along the driveway. The flood compensation area will be seeded with a native 
pollinator wildflower mix. Native and non-invasive species are proposed. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20.6 Screening: The proposed dumpster enclosure will be a 6 ft. solid fence. The proposed location is 
not visible from adjacent properties or the public right-of-way. HVAC mechanicals are not 
currently proposed since each tenant will have different requirements for the use of their unit. The 

49 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

plan set notes that all mechanicals will meet the Site Development Standards for screening once 
installed. 

 The proposed parking lot is not visible from the public right-of-way and the subject property is not 
adjacent to any residential zoning districts. There is not any perimeter parking lot screening 
proposed for this project as it is not required. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.7 Lighting: The Lighting Plan, sheet LT-1 proposes the installation of 2 pole lights and 38 wall 
mounted lights. The pole lights will be mounted 29.5 ft. above grade. The wall lights will be 
mounted 11 ft. above the finished building grade. All light fixtures will be full cutoff LEDs. Both 
proposed fixtures will have a color rendering index (CRI) of 80 and a color temperature of 3,500 
kelvin or less. The parking lot will have an average lighting level of 3 footcandles and a uniformity 
ratio of 3.6:1. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.8 Sewer & Water: The applicant states in their narrative that the development will be serviced by 
municipal water and sewer. Each building will be fully sprinkled. A City sewer connection permit 
and an NHDES sewer connection permit will be required. The Utility Plan, sheet UT-1 notes that 
the water capacity above the nearest pump station has adequate supply for the fire suppression 
system. Two underground propane storage tanks are proposed behind the dumpster enclosure area. 
Propane lines will serve the units in the building. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.9 Traffic & Access Management: The proposed driveway will connect to the cul-de-sac at the end of 
Black Brook Road to provide access to the site and will be 24 ft. in width. The drive aisle in between 
the two buildings will continue to be 24 ft. in width. The applicant states in their narrative that this 
width is designed to easily accommodate traffic flow entering and exiting as well as navigating the 
site internally. 

 A truck turn-around area has been provided at the eastern end of the parking area. The Truck 
Turning Exhibit Plan, sheet EH-1 shows that a WB-62 size truck, commonly described as an 
“Interstate Semitrailer” with a length of 68.5 ft., would be able to navigate and turn around on the 
site. The plan notes that the Keene Fire ladder truck is smaller than a WB-62 size truck and will be 
able to navigate and turn around on the site. 

 The applicant has informed staff that a traffic study is pending and will be submitted prior to the 
Planning Board meeting. 

20.10 Filling & Excavation: The applicant states in their narrative that based on the anticipated volume 
of material to be removed to provide the necessary flood compensation, the project will generate 
more than 50 trucks entering or leaving the site. The proposed truck route is from Black Brook 
Road to NH route 12. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: The application includes a Surface Water Protection Conditional Use 
Permit as part of the proposal. The proposed driveway will travel through the 30’ wetland buffer to 
connect the site to Black Brook Road. The wetland buffer is from a wetland finger that travels 
north-south, roughly parallel with Black Brook Road. The finger connects with a larger wetland 
area located in the southwest corner of the property. The proposed street access and driveway 
location minimizes the impact to both the wetland system itself as well as the buffer. A differing 
location would require an impact to the wetland system. 

A second wetland buffer impact is proposed in the southeast corner of the property near Black 
Brook. A stone spillway is proposed to be installed within the buffer as part of the proposed 

50 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

stormwater detention area. The applicant states in their narrative that this impact is required to 
provide a connection point of the stormwater and flood waters to the flooding source, which is 
Black Brook. 

The Planning Board shall issue a surface water protection conditional use permit for the activities 
described in Section 11.6.1, if it finds that all of the following criteria have been met: 

1. The proposed use and/or activity cannot be located in a manner to avoid encroachment 
into the Surface Water Protection Overlay District. 
 
The applicant states in their narrative that due to the proximity of the wetland to the existing 
road, the buffer will have to be crossed in order to access the site. Any alternative location 
would impact the wetland directly. 
 

2. Encroachment into the buffer area has been minimized to the maximum extent possible, 
including reasonable modification of the scale or design of the proposed use. 
 
The applicant states in their narrative that the driveway will only cross the buffer and not impact 
the actual wetland. It appears that the wetland was created by the drainage from Black brook 
Road. 
 

3. The nature, design, siting, and scale of the proposed use and the characteristics of the site, 
including but not limited to topography, soils, vegetation, and habitat, are such that when 
taken as a whole, will avoid the potential for adverse impacts to the surface water 
resource. 
 
The applicant states in their narrative that the paved driveway will be graded to collect 
stormwater runoff and direct it away from the wetland finger and into a grass treatment swale. 
The water will flow into the large flood/detention basin, which will ultimately become 
jurisdictional wetlands over time. 
 

4. The surface water buffer area shall be left in a natural state to the maximum extent 
possible. The Planning Board may establish conditions of approval regarding the 
preservation of the buffer, including the extent to which trees, saplings and ground cover 
shall be preserved. 
 
The applicant states in their narrative that the encroachment area will be permanently altered 
as the access drive will cross the buffer. The wetland resource will not be impacted and will 
ultimately become much larger as the flood compensation basin develops into a wetland. 

Per Section 11.6.3.A of the LDC, the Surface Water Protection CUP Application has been referred 
to the Conservation Commission and will be reviewed at their meeting on February 21. Staff will 
share any recommendations from the Conservation Commission at the Planning Board meeting. 

A significant portion of the property is located with the 100-year floodplain associated with Black 
Brook, which makes up the southern property boundary of the subject parcels. This is labeled as 
the AE zone on the plan set. The proposed southern building and associated parking area will 
impact the flood plain. The proposed development will require a Floodplain Development Permit 
and FEMA approval. The proposed buildings will have a finished floor elevation (FFE) of at least 
1 ft. above the floodplain elevation. The minimum FFE is 519.5 ft. The Board will need to 
determine if the criteria for the Conditional Use Permit has been met. 

51 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 
20.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant states in their narrative that the management company 

will oversee the tenants and ensure that no hazardous or toxic materials are stored outside or in an 
inappropriate manner. This standard appears to be met. 

20.13  Noise: The applicant states in their narrative that there could be noise associated with certain 
businesses, depending on the contractor renting the space. The units will be fully enclosed and any 
business that may be louder, such as a machining or workshop use could be monitored by 
management to ensure that it does not impact adjacent tenants. The site is located far from adjacent 
properties and is not located near any residential uses. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 
buildings will be metal panel construction with each unit having a large garage door and entrance. 
The roof will be a shallow gable 
pitch with metal roofing panels. 
The proposed colors are a mix of 
gray shades. 

 
The applicant has submitted two 
waiver requests. The first waiver 
request is to provide relief from 
Section 20.14.1.B 
“Massing/Scale,” sub-section B, 
which states “For buildings of 
150-ft in length of more, facades 
shall be divided into multiple 
“modules,” expressed through 
significant architectural changes 
such as a change in materials, a 
change in pattern elements (e.g. 
fenestration, columns, pilasters, 
etc.), or a change in building 
setback through recesses or 
projections. Such modules shall 
be no wider than 50-ft.” The 
applicant states in their waiver 
request that the proposed 
buildings are prefabricated metal 
buildings, and the architecture 
and design of the buildings is 
determined by the manufacturer 
and there is a substantial cost to 
changing the linear design. 

The second waiver request is to provide relief from Section 20.14.2 “Visual Interest,” sub-section 
A, which states “Front facades and exterior walls shall be articulated to express an architectural 
identity to avoid a uniform appearance, and architectural details shall give the impression of being 
integral to and compatible with the overall design.” In addition, sub-section B states “Structures 
shall have architectural features (e.g. dominant gable ends, cornices, granite sills, arched 
openings, large windows framed with architecturally consistent trim, etc.) and patterns that 
provide visual interest at the pedestrian scale, reduce massive aesthetic effects, and harmonize with 
the City’s distinctive architectural identity, unique character, and prevailing scale.” The applicant 

Fig 2: Rendering of the proposed site interior. 

Fig 3: Rendering of aerial view of the site. 

52 of 97



STAFF REPORT 
 

states in their waiver request that there is substantial efficiency in creating a linear building and 
having each building unit identical to the other units.  

The Planning Board may grant a waiver from strict compliance with provisions of the Site 
Development Standards in Article 20 or site plan review standards in Section 25.12, on a case by-
case basis, so long as the Board finds, by majority vote, that: 

1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver 
would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or 

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site plan, 
indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the regulations. 

The Board will need to determine if the waiver requests meet the above criteria. 

 
Recommended Motions for Waiver Requests:  
If the Board is inclined to grant the requested waivers, the following language is recommended for motions:  

Waiver Request #1: “Grant a waiver from Section 20.14.1.B of the Land Development Code regarding the 
requirement that buildings of 150-ft in length or more be divided into multiple modules.” 

Waiver Request #2: “Grant a waiver from Section 20.14.2.A of the Land Development Code regarding the 
requirement that front facades and exterior walls shall be articulated to express an architectural identity to 
avoid a uniform appearance.” 

Waiver Request #3: “Grant a waiver from Section 20.14.2.B of the Land Development Code regarding the 
requirement that structures shall have architectural features that provide interest at the pedestrian scale and 
reduce massive aesthetic effects.” 

Recommended Motion for Application 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for a motion:  

“Approve SPR-02-23 & CUP-01-23 as shown on the plan identified as “All Purpose Keene Business Park 
Light Industrial Facility Tax Map 221, Lots 23&24 – (Black Brook Road) Keene, New Hampshire” 
prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC at a scale of various dated January 20, 2023 and last revised 
February 13, 2023 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions precedent 
shall be met: 

A. Submittal of security for sedimentation and erosion control, landscaping, and “as built” plans 
in a form and amount acceptable to the Community Development Director and the City 
Engineer.” 

B. Owner’s signature appear on the plan set. 
C. Submittal of five full sized paper copies and one digital copy of the final plan set. 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions shall 
be met: 

A. Prior to the commencement of site work, the Community Development Department shall be 
notified when all erosion control measure are installed and the Community Development 
Director, or their designee, shall inspect the erosion control measures to ensure compliance 
with this site plan and all City of Keene regulations.”  

53 of 97



54 of 97



55 of 97



56 of 97



57 of 97



58 of 97



59 of 97



60 of 97



61 of 97



62 of 97



63 of 97



64 of 97



65 of 97



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
City of Keene Planning Board 
Attn:  Evan J. Clements, AICP       February 13, 2023 
Community Dev. Planner  
City of Keene 
3 Washington St – 4th Floor 
Keene, NH 03431 
 
RE: WAIVER REQUEST 
 SPR-02-23 and SWP-CUP-01-23 
 Contractor Storage Development  
 
Mr. Clements: 
 
On behalf of our client, Patriot Holdings, LLC, we are hereby submitting these waiver requests for 
Planning Board approval.  Based on the Community Development review letter, dated February 3, 2023, 
we are hereby seeking waivers for following standards in the Land Development Code (LDC):  
 
Waiver #1: Section 20.14.1 “Massing/Scale,” sub-section B states “For buildings of 150-ft in length of more, 
facades shall be divided into multiple “modules,” expressed through significant architectural changes such as a 
change in materials, a change in pattern elements (e.g. fenestration, columns, pilasters, etc.), or a change in 
building setback through recesses or projections. Such modules shall be no wider than 50-ft.”.:   

1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver would not be 
contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulation.:  The buildings that are proposed are pre-fabricated 
metal buildings.  The architecture and design of these buildings is determined by the manufacturer 
and there is a substantial cost to changing the linear design. The use and type of buildings are well 
suited to the location in the Corporate Park, and the massing or scale of the buildings will not 
adversely impact the neighborhood. The strict conformity would impose an unnecessary monetary 
hardship on the applicant to have a custom designed building to meet this standard.  

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site plan, indicate 
that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the regulations.:  A large portion of the 
property is within the 100 year floodplain, and this limits the footprint of the building and site plan 
layout. In order to change the building setback via recesses and projections, the building footprint 
would be larger for the same amount of square footage. The projects’ footprint to the south is very 
restrictive based on the floodplain, the compensation required, and the river. The 100 year floodplain 
is very restrictive and this is a specific circumstance that is relative to the site plan.  

3. In granting a waiver, the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is reasonable and 
necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard being waived will be preserved and to 
ensure that no increase in adverse impacts associated with granting the waiver will occur.: Based on 
the use of light industrial and the location of the project in the corporate park zone, we believe that 
the building styles are in harmony with the neighborhood. The buildings are not located in the center 
of Keene or in a highly visible location from public City streets. The existing and proposed 

66 of 97



 

 

landscaping will break up the mass of the buildings, as viewed from the City street – Black Brook 
Road.  

 
Waiver #2: Section 20.14.2 “Visual Interest,” sub-section A states “Front facades and exterior walls shall be 
articulated to express an architectural identity to avoid a uniform appearance, and architectural details shall give 
the impression of being integral to and compatible with the overall design.” In addition, sub-section B states 
“Structures shall have architectural features (e.g. dominant gable ends, cornices, granite sills, arched openings, 
large windows framed with architecturally consistent trim, etc.) and patterns that provide visual interest at the 
pedestrian scale, reduce massive aesthetic effects, and harmonize with the City’s distinctive architectural identity, 
unique character, and prevailing scale.”:  

1. Strict conformity…:  As described in Waiver #1, the architectural design and layout is pre-determined 
by the building manufacture. There is substantial efficiency in creating a linear building and having 
each building unit identical to the other units. These types of buildings cannot be ordered with 
cornices, granite sills, arched openings, or large windows, as the function of the buildings is for light 
industrial and contractor business operations. 

2. Specific circumstances …:  The limiting functions of the 100-year floodplain on the property is a 
specific circumstance, along with the property being located on the outskirts of the city. The 
requirement for articulated walls would require that the building footprint be larger, which require 
additional fill in the floodplain. The use of light industrial and contractor business park, should be 
considered for the type of architecture warranted in this location. The site development is already 
hindered by the floodplain, which brings a substantial cost to development as a hardship. The added 
cost of custom designing a building for this use would add to that hardship to develop this particular 
building lot.  

3. In granting a waiver …:  The spirit and intent of the ordinance would be upheld, as the style of 
buildings would fit the harmony of the corporate park. The landscaping proposed and existing trees to 
remain, will break up the buildings, as viewed from the public roads. The buildings are also oriented 
so that the narrowest portion of the building is visible from the street.  

 
Thank you for your consideration in granting the waivers outlined above.  
 
Best Regards, 
Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC 

 

 
John Noonan 
Project Manager 
   

67 of 97



68 of 97



69 of 97



70 of 97



71 of 97



72 of 97



73 of 97



74 of 97



75 of 97









ST
AR

T D
AT

E:
EN

GIN
EE

R: 
00

.00
.00

00

N
O

R
TH

 A
R

R
O

W
R

EV
IS

IO
N

S

2.

3.
4.







PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1.

2

SE
AL

 DR
AW

ING
S 

DA
TE

:
AR

CH
ITE

CT
:00

.00
.00

00
CO

MP
LE

TIO
N 

DA
TE

:
A

15

O
W

N
ER

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

1 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

11.0
1.2

1

3.31.2022

AS
 N

O
TE

D
11

.0
1.

21

TC



P0
21

00
7

E1
03.19.22

PR
EL

IM
IN

A
R

Y 
D

ES
IG

N
 S

ET
03

.2
2.

22

76 of 97



 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
2 Bedford Farms Drive, Suite 200, Bedford, New Hampshire 03110 
P  603.391.3900 F  603.518.7495 www.vhb.com   

To: Chad Branon 
Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC 
778 Elm Street, Suite C 
Milford, NH 03055 

Date: February 17, 2023 

Project #: 52985.00 

    
From: Jason R. Plourde, PE, PTP Re: Traffic Assessment 

Black Brook Road Warehouses 
Keene, New Hampshire 

Introduction 
As proposed, two warehouse structures totaling 61,200 square feet will be located at Tax Map Parcels 221-023 and 
221-024 along Black Brook Road in Keene, New Hampshire. A full access driveway will be constructed near the 
terminus of Black Brook Road. Based on preliminary research, Black Brook Road and the adjacent roadway network are 
under City of Keene jurisdiction. Therefore, review and approval are required with respect to traffic through the City of 
Keene permitting process. This Traffic Assessment has been prepared to summarize the estimated site trips generated 
by the proposed development along the adjacent roadway system. The site location is graphically presented on 
Figure 1. 

Trip Generation Methodology 
To estimate the volume of traffic to be generated by the proposed project, trip rates were reviewed that are published 
in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual.1 Table 1 summarizes the ITE trip-generation 
estimates for the proposed development. The trip-generation calculations are attached to this memorandum. 

Based on ITE methodologies2 and NHDOT guidance,3 a development may result in a change in vehicular operations 
(i.e., noticeably drop level of service or increase volume-to-capacity ratios) if the addition of site trips would increase 
peak hour traffic volumes at an intersection by 100 vehicles or more. In general, traffic increases less than this 
threshold could be attributed to the fluctuation of vehicles due to driver patterns that occur during the day, on 
different days of a week, or different months of a year. As shown in Table 1, the site trips associated with the proposed 
warehouse development are not anticipated to exceed this threshold even along Black Brook Road. Therefore, 
standard traffic engineering practice suggests that the proposed development would be expected to result in 
negligible impacts to the adjacent roadway system. 

  

 
1  Institute of Transportation Engineers. Trip Generation Manual, 11th ed. Washington, DC, Sept. 2021. 
2  Transportation Impact Analyses for Site Development: An ITE Proposed Recommended Practice. Washington, DC: 

Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2010. 
3  Bollinger, Robert E. Inter-Department Communication. New Hampshire Department of Transportation, Bureau of 

Traffic. 17 Feb. 2010. 

77 of 97



Chad Branon 
Ref:  52985.00 
February 17, 2023 
Page 3 
 
 

Table 1 Trip-Generation Summary 

Time Period/Direction Estimated Site Trips a 

Weekday Daily  
Enter 68 
Exit 68 
Total 136 

Weekday AM Peak Hour  
Enter 8 
Exit 2 
Total 10 

Weekday PM Peak Hour  
Enter 3 
Exit 8 
Total 11 

Saturday Daily  
Enter 5 
Exit 5 
Total 10 

Saturday Peak Hour  
Enter 2 
Exit 1 
Total 3 

a ITE Land Use Code 150 (Warehousing) for 61,200 sf. 

Trip Distribution 
All site trips will enter and exit Black Brook Road via Wyman Road which are both legislatively categorized as Class V 
Local Roads that are under City of Keene jurisdiction. To the south, Wyman Road provides a connection with 
NH Route 12 which is legislatively categorized as Class I Primary Highway and under NHDOT jurisdiction. Based on 
NHDOT historical traffic volumes (Count Station 82237121), traffic volumes along NH Route 12 east of Wyman Road 
experienced an average annual daily traffic (AADT) of 9,542 vehicles in 2020 with a general 50/50 directional split 
(4,778 northbound and 4,764 southbound). Based on these distribution estimates, the estimated site trips were 
assigned to the adjacent roadway network as reflected on Figure 2. 

  

78 of 97



Chad Branon 
Ref:  52985.00 
February 17, 2023 
Page 5 
 
 
As shown, the proposed development would result in traffic volume increases along NH Route 12 in the range of 1 to 
5 vehicles per hour to the east of Wyman Road and in the range of 2 to 6 vehicles per hour to the west. These 
increases represent, on average, 1 vehicle every 10 to 60 minutes. Therefore, the proposed development would be 
expected to result in negligible impacts to the adjacent roadway system. 

Conclusion 
In summary, ITE and NHDOT methodologies suggest that a development may have a noticeable impact if the addition 
of site trips increases traffic volumes at an intersection by 100 vehicles per hour or more. Based on the findings of this 
Traffic Assessment, the site trips for the proposed warehouse development are far below this threshold (10 to 
11 vehicles per hour). These minimal site trips added to the roadway network are considered to be representative of 
the typical fluctuation of traffic volumes within the area. Therefore, the proposed development is anticipated to result 
in negligible impacts to the adjacent roadway network. 

79 of 97



Storm Water Management 
Report 

 
ALL PURPOSE KEENE 

BUSINESS PARK 
       

Project Location: 
Tax Map Parcels 221-023 & 024 
Black Brook Road 
Keene, NH 03431 
 
Prepared for: 
Patriot Holdings, LLC 
4007 Dean Martin Drive 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
 
Date:   January 20, 2023 
 
 
 
 

 

80 of 97



 

 

 
STORM WATER MANAGEMENT REPORT 

ALL PURPOSE KEENE BUSINESS PARK 
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE 

Prepared for: 
PATRIOT HOLDINGS, LLC 

January 20, 2023 

I) INTRODUCTION 

This storm-water management report was conducted for a proposed site development for a 
Business Park – Light Industrial Facility in Keene, NH. The property is located on Black Brook Road, 
specifically on City of Keene Assessor’s Map 221, Parcels 023 and 024.  The site is currently 
undeveloped and both lots were intended for the corporate park development. The applicant is 
proposing to develop the site and construct a business park facility with two separate buildings and 
paved drive aisles.  The purpose of the facility is to provide rentable units to contractor businesses 
to be used for mixed use of small office, workshops, store-front, warehousing and distribution.  
 
The proposed plan is to merge the two lots, and construct the two buildings with site amenities. A 
substantial portion of the site lies within the 100 year floodplain of the Black Brook, which defines 
the southern boundary of the property. The finish floor elevations of the buildings must be a 
minimum of 1 foot above the base flood elevation of 518.5’ to meet City Floodplain standards. The 
building elevations drive the site design and require fill within the floodplain of the Black Brook. 
This fill in the floodplain is offset by excavating the same volume to provide compensation for the 
floodwaters.  
 
The purpose of this report is to analyze the qualitative and quantitative impacts of the proposed 
development on stormwater runoff. The objective of the proposed stormwater management 
system for this project is to mitigate any increases resulting from the proposed development and to 
meet the drainage guidelines set forth in the City of Keene’s Site Plan Review and the NHDES 
Alteration of Terrain (AOT) regulations. The overall area of disturbance is above the NHDES 
Alteration of Terrain permit threshold of 100,000 square feet of disturbance; therefore an AOT 
permit is required for the project, along with approval from FEMA for the work within the 
floodplain. 
 

II) SITE DESCRIPTION (EXISTING) 

The subject property consists of two lots, 5.33 acres and 7.24 acres in size, with frontage along 
Black Brook Road and the lots are undeveloped. The lots are mostly open farm field, with heavy 
brush and woods along the perimeter of the brook. There is a portion of wetland that is parallel to 
the Black Brook Road.  

81 of 97



 
 
Patriot Holdings, LLC #3459.00 
All Purpose Keene, Business Park – Storm Water Management Report Page 2  
 

The NRCS websoil survey indicates that the dominant soils present on the site are Croghan loamy 
fine sand (613B), Rippowam fine sandy loam (5) and Greenwood mucky peat (295).  These soils are 
respectively Hydrologic Group (HSG) “B” soils, HSG “C” soils and HSG “D” along the brook. Test pits 
have been conducted on the property, and a Site-Specific Soils Map will be completed as part of 
the AOT permit (pending at this time).  
 

III) METHODOLOGY 

The quantity of runoff and the conveyance of that flow through the site are determined using the 
software package HydroCAD r 10.0 by HydroCAD Software Solutions, LLC.  HydroCAD is a computer 
aided design program for modeling storm water hydrology based on the Soil Conservation Service 
(SCS) TR-20 method combined with standard hydraulics calculations used to model stormwater 
systems, such as detention basins, culverts, swales, and catch basins. 
 
The stormwater management systems are designed in accordance with the methodology for the 
"Best Management Practices" (BMP’s), as outlined in the New Hampshire Storm Water Manual, 
Volume 2. 

 
IV) DRAINAGE DESIGN 

In accordance with the NHDES Alteration of Terrain, there will be no increase in the peak flow of 
surface runoff. In order to demonstrate this the two (2), ten (10), and fifty (50) year frequency 
storm events have been evaluated.  The values for each storm modeled match the Extreme 
Precipitation Estimates, as listed by the Northeast Regional Climate Center, specifically for Keene 
NH. These design storms have been analyzed to compare the Pre and Post-development peak flow 
rates for the site (see attached comparison tables below). 
 
Pre-Development Drainage Conditions: 
The Pre-Development Drainage Area Plan outlines the area where water flows across the property.  
The high point of the property is along the northern boundary, along the roadway. The property is 
relatively flat and drains to the southeast corner of the property, where it drains to the Black 
Brook.  

Post-Development Drainage Conditions: 
The proposed drainage systems were designed to capture runoff from the buildings and paved 
areas, and direct the flow to stormwater management systems.  The existing condition has all 
water flowing to the Black Brook. Therefore, the post-development condition will require 
mitigating the runoff velocities and out flowing to the Black Brook.  There are 6 Subcatchments 
modeled in the post-development condition, in addition to one existing Subcatchment (E1S) to 
model the unaltered portion of the site flowing to Black Brook.   

The net result is that virtually all of the new impervious areas will receive qualitative treatment and 
there will be a reduction of peak rates of runoff leaving this site for all storm events. 

82 of 97



Patriot Holdings, LLC #3459.00 
All Purpose Keene, Business Park – Storm Water Management Report Page 3 

V) SUMMARY

The intent of the stormwater management system for this project is to address the qualitative and 
quantitative aspects of the stormwater runoff so that there are no downstream adverse impacts 
created by the project. To mitigate the resulting increases in runoff peak rates due to the 
development of Lots 221-023 and 221-024, this project proposes that a stormwater management 
system consisting of three (3) catch basins, two (2) stone drip strips, three (3) treatment swales and 
one (1) detention basin to be constructed. The net result is that new buildings and paved areas will 
receive qualitative treatment and there will be no increase in the peak rates of runoff leaving the 
site. 

The stormwater management design for this project therefore complies with the standards set 
forth in the City of Keene’s Site Plan Review Regulations and meets the NHDES Alteration of Terrain 
regulations.   

The following table is a summary of the attached calculations and shows a comparison of the peak 
flow rates at the summary point for the site.  The values presented are based on Pre- and Post-
development conditions. 

Table 1.1: Peak Flow Rates (CFS)/Volume (AF) to Observation Point 1 (OP1) – PRE VS. POST DEVELOPMENT 

STORM FREQUENCY PRE-DEV. RUNOFF 
(CFS/AF) 

POST-DEV. RUNOFF 
(CFS/AF) 

CHANGE 
(CFS/AF) 

2-YEAR 4.08/0.564 1.06/0.510 -3.02/-0.054

10-YEAR 10.46/1.268 3.99/1.296 -6.47/0.028

50-YEAR 21.67/2.518 10.14/2.617 -11.53/0.099

83 of 97



84 of 9784 of 97



85 of 9785 of 97



86 of 97

Rendering of Proposed Building Measuring 60' wide x 420' long



87 of 97

Rendering of Proposed Building Measuring 60' wide x 660' long



88 of 97

Proposed Building Renderings



89 of 97



90 of 97



CITY OF KEENE 

NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
Date:   February 17, 2023 
 
To:  Planning Board  

 
From:   Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
 
Re: Proposed Amendments to the Planning Board Subdivision Regulations  
 

Background 

At the January 23, 2023 Planning Board meeting, the Board opened a public hearing to discuss proposed 
amendments to the Subdivision Regulations in Article 19 of the Land Development Code. During the public 
hearing, the Board discussed the following items: 

1. Section 19.2.4 “Preservation of Existing Features” – The Board discussed and came to a consensus to 
remove sub-section 1, which included additional submittal items that may be required by the Board. 
This sub-section has been removed from the proposed subdivision amendments. 

2. Section 19.2.8 “Utilities”  
a. The Board discussed modifying sub-section C.1 of this standard to make it clear that the intent 

is for the applicant to submit information that demonstrates it would be possible to site a septic 
system on the proposed new lot(s), and that a full-length technical study or a septic design 
would not be required to meet this standard. The language in this section has been modified to 
clarify this intent. 

b. The Board agreed with proposed sub-section C.2 generally; however, there was a suggestion 
to reference the specific rule that requires NH Department of Environmental Services approval 
of subdivisions that create new lots that are less than 5 acres in size. This reference has been 
added to the proposed subdivision amendments. 

Following Board deliberation, the Board decided to continue the public hearing to the February 27, 2023 
Planning Board meeting. Attached to this memorandum are the specific sections of the Planning Board 
Regulations within the Land Development Code affected by this proposed change that show the text that is 
proposed to be added in bold and highlighted, and the text that is proposed to be removed with strike 
through. 

Overview of Proposed Amendments 

The Planning Board Subdivision Regulations are located in Article 19 of the City of Keene Land 
Development Code (Chapter 100 of the City Code of Ordinances). The following amendments are proposed 
to these regulations:  

91 of 97



1. Amend Section 19.2.4 of Article 19, “Preservation of Existing Features” to include additional 
information about the type of features that should be protected and possible mechanisms the 
Planning Board could require to protect those features;  

2. Amend Section 19.2.8, “Utilities” to include additional submittal requirements for proposals that 
would create a new lot(s) not served by City sewer; and  

3. Amend Section 19.3.2.B, “Perimeter Building Setback” of the Conservation Residential 
Development Subdivision Regulations to require that existing tree canopy within the perimeter 
setback along external roads be preserved. 

The intent of these proposed amendments is to address some of the concerns expressed during the public 
workshops and public hearings that were held in connection with Ordinance O-2022-09, which initially 
included a proposal to reduce the minimum lot size in the Rural District. These included concerns about 
negative impacts to the rural character of the district, the suitability of soils in this district for siting septic 
systems, and the need to protect important natural and scenic features such as surface waters, steep slopes, 
and important wildlife habitat. The proposed amendments provide additional guidance for the Planning 
Board when reviewing subdivision applications to address these concerns.  

A continued public hearing will be held at the Planning Board meeting on February 27, 2023 on these 
proposed amendments. The full text of the Land Development Code is available online at 
www.keenenh.gov/land-development-code.   

 

92 of 97

http://www.keenenh.gov/land-development-code


Keene, NH Land Development Code | November 2022 Subdivision Regulations | 19-1 

19.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................... 19-2

19.2 REVIEW STANDARDS .................................. 19-3

19.3 CONSERVATION RESIDENTIAL                            
DEVELOPMENT SUBDIVISIONS.......................... 19-4

ARTICLE 19. SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

93 of 97



Keene, NH Land Development Code | November 202219-2 | Subdivision Regulations

19.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

19.1.1 Authority

In accordance with the authority vested by the City 
Council and with the provisions of NH RSA 674:35-
42, the Planning Board shall have the authority 
to regulate the subdivision of land in the City of 
Keene.

19.1.2 Applicability

The standards included in this Article shall apply 
to all subdivisions of land, including the division 
or consolidation of lots and the alteration or 
adjustment of lot boundary lines. 

19.1.3 Subdivision Review 

Subdivision review by the Planning Board shall be 
required for the following types of subdivisions. 
The application, review and approval processes for 
subdivision review are included in Article 25 of this 
LDC. 

A. Subdivision. Subdivision means the division of 
a lot, tract or parcel of land into 2 or more lots, 
plats, sites, units or other divisions of land for 
the purpose, whether immediate or future, of 
sale, rent, lease or building development.  

B. Boundary Line Adjustment. A boundary 
line adjustment, also referred to as a lot line 
adjustment, is the alteration or adjustment of 
boundary lines between 1 or more contiguous, 
preexisting approved or subdivided lots. 

C. Voluntary Merger. A voluntary merger is the 
consolidation of 2 or more contiguous pre-
existing approved or subdivided lots owned by 
the same property owner.

D. Conservation Residential Development 
Subdivision. A type of subdivision that is 
intended to encourage the beneficial 
consolidation of land development and the 
preservation of open space by applying less 
restrictive lot dimensional requirements than the 
underlying zoning district in exchange for 
placing an undeveloped portion of land into 
permanent open space. Subdivisions proposing 
the creation of 3 or more lots and the layout and 

construction of a new road, where the parcel to 
be subdivided is located in either the Rural, Low 
Density, or Low Density-1 zoning district and 
meets the minimum lot size requirements for a 
conservation residential development specified 
in this Article, shall be reviewed as a 
conservation residential development.  

19.1.4 Five-Year Exemption

Approved subdivisions shall be protected from future 
amendments to regulations for a 5-year period, 
provided that active and substantial development 
has occurred on the site, in accordance with NH RSA 
674:39. 

94 of 97



Keene, NH Land Development Code | November 2022 Subdivision Regulations | 19-3 

19.2 REVIEW STANDARDS

The Planning Board shall apply the following 
standards in its review of subdivision applications. 

19.2.1 Lots

A. Lot size and configurations shall meet all 
requirements of the Zoning Regulations.

B. All lots shall have frontage on a state highway 
(excluding limited access highways), a Class V 
road, or a street within an approved subdivision 
plan. 

1. Road frontage shall not be less than 50-ft, 
unless expressly allowed in this LDC. 

C. Subdivisions shall not be approved on 
roads shown on city records and plans as 
discontinued, discontinued subject to gates 
and bars, or Class VI roads. 

19.2.2 Character of Land for Subdivision

All land proposed for subdivision shall be of such 
a character that it can be safely used for building 
development purposes and would not pose a danger 
to health or peril from fire, flood, poor drainage, 
excessive slope, or other hazardous conditions. 

19.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development

Subdivisions shall not promote scattered or 
premature development of land as would involve 
danger or injury to health, safety, or necessitate 
the excessive expenditure of public funds for the 
supply of associated services. In making such 
a determination, the Planning Board will take 
into account the capacity of the school system, 
adequacy of access streets, adequacy of water 
supply for fire-fighting purposes, distance from 
emergency services, and availability of other public 
services. 

19.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features

Wherever feasible, suitable steps shall be taken to 
preserve and protect significant existing features, 
such as surface waters, steep slopes, rare and/or 
unique scenic points, stone walls, rock out-croppings, 
and historic landmarks, or any of the attributes 
listed in Section 19.3.4 “Primary and Secondary 

Conservation Areas” of this Article. In order to 
ensure that the objectives of this section are met, 
the Planning Board may require additional studies 
or mitigation, including but not limited to the 
following:  

2. The Board may require the designation 
of a “no-cut buffer” along public rights-
of-way to preserve existing vegetation 
and provide a visual screen for new 
development. Any property that has been 
clear-cut within the preceding ten (10) 
year period, or any property that will be 
clear-cut as a result of any proposed or 
future development, may be required to 
conduct revegetation or other mitigation 
to provide a visual buffer along the public 
rights-of-way.

3. The Board may require that the proposed 
development be designed and located to 
fit into the landscape in order to minimize 
significant landscape alterations and 
mitigate or avoid impacts to significant 
existing features or views/vistas.

19.2.5 Monumentation

The owner or developer shall provide permanent 
reference monuments in accordance with Article 22 
of this LDC.   

19.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas 

All subdivision proposals having lands identified 
as Special Flood Hazard Areas on current Flood 
Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) shall be located 
and configured to be consistent with the need 
to minimize potential impacts from flooding.  In 
addition, any public utilities and facilities associated 
with such proposals shall be located and 
constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage.  

19.2.7 Fire Protection & Water Supply 

All subdivisions shall be provided with an adequate 
supply of water for fire protection purposes at the 
owner’s expense. This requirement may be met by 
any of the following options, subject to the approval 
of the Fire Chief.

95 of 97



Keene, NH Land Development Code | November 202219-4 | Subdivision Regulations

A. Fire hydrants connected to a public water 
main with adequate fire flows and pressures 
appropriate to the type and scale of the 
proposed use that meets the requirements of the 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) and 
the Keene Fire Department. 

B. Private fire protection water supply systems 
when it is infeasible or economically 
unreasonable to connect a fire hydrant to 
a public water main as determined by the 
Planning Board. Private fire protection water 
supply systems may include the following. 

1. For non-residential, institutional, and multi-
family dwellings, storage and distribution 
systems appropriate to the type and scale 
of the proposed use that comply with the 
standards of the National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA) and the Keene Fire 
Department. 

2. For single-family dwellings, underground 
cisterns and associated dry hydrants 
that meet the standards of NFPA 1142.  
The location, design, and provisions for 
ownership, maintenance, and all season 
access to the cistern and supporting 
facilities shall conform to the Keene Fire 
Department hydrant specifications.

3. Individual residential sprinkler systems 
meeting the standards of NFPA 13D or 
NFPA 13R may be installed; however, in no 
case may the installation of such a system 
be made a requirement of approval.

4. Any other public or private fire protection 
water supply system approved by the Fire 
Chief and determined by the Planning 
Board to provide a similar or greater level 
of fire protection than the options provided 
in (1) and (2) above.

19.2.8 Utilities

A. When required by City Code, all subdivisions 
will be serviced by City water and sewer. All 
necessary water and sewer lines shall be 
installed to the required specifications of the 
Public Works Department and shall include 

service lines running from the water and sewer 
mains to the property line to service each lot. In 
addition, utility rights-of-way shall be provided 
in accordance with Article 22 of this LDC.

B. All lots smaller than 1-acre in size shall be 
connected to City sewer service, unless 
otherwise expressly allowed in this LDC.

C.  In areas not currently served by City sewer, it 
shall be the responsibility of the applicant or 
their agent to provide:

a. Adequate information (e.g. test pits 
and percolation tests) to demonstrate 
that the land and area of each lot is 
adequate to permit the installation 
and operation of an individual 
sewage disposal system.

b. In accordance with Env-Wq 1000, for 
subdivisions with lots smaller than 
5 acres, subdivision approval from 
the New Hampshire Department 
of Environmental Services shall be 
required.

19.3 CONSERVATION RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT SUBDIVISIONS

19.3.1 Purpose

The purpose of a conservation residential 
development subdivision is to promote the 
conservation of natural resources while providing 
greater flexibility and creativity in the design of 
residential development than would be possible 
using conventional zoning and subdivision practices. 

This purpose is accomplished by allowing for 
clustering of dwelling units at a higher density than 
would be allowed by the underlying zoning district, 
provided a portion of the existing tract of land to 
be subdivided is permanently designated as open 
space.

19.3.2 Dimensional Standards

A. Minimum Dimensional Requirements. 
All conservation residential development 
subdivisions shall meet the minimum 

96 of 97



Keene, NH Land Development Code | November 2022 Subdivision Regulations | 19-5 

dimensional requirements specified in Table 19-
1. If not specified in Table 19-1 or elsewhere in 
this Article, the dimensional requirements of the 
underlying zoning district shall apply. 

B. Perimeter Building Setback. A building setback 
shall be required around the perimeter of the 
existing tract proposed for subdivision (excluding 
access points) as specified in Table 19-1. The 
land area included in the perimeter setback 
may be counted toward the calculation of open 
space. The area within the perimeter setback 
along external roads shall be designated as a 
“no cut” area in order to preserve existing tree 
canopy.

C. Density. 

1. The number of dwelling units allowed within 
a conservation residential development 
subdivision shall be determined by dividing 
the total area of the existing tract by the 
density factor per dwelling unit specified in 
Table 19-2.

2. A density bonus may be granted to 
developments that meet the criteria for one 
or more of the density incentives detailed in 
Section 19.3.6. In no instance shall a density 
of more than 30% above the standard 
allowable density be granted to any single 
development. This section shall not be 
waivable.

Table 19-2: Density & Open Space Requirements 

Zoning District
Density Factor per 

Dwelling Unit1 
Min Open 

Space

Rural 2 acres 50%

Low Density-1 
(without city 
water)

1 acre 50%

Low Density-1 
(with city water)

20,000 sf 50%

Low Density 10,000 sf 50%

          1 Density bonus(es) may be granted as specified in   
          Section 19.3.6

Table 19-1: Dimensional Requirements for Conservation Residential Development Subdivisions

Rural 
District1 

Low Density-1 
District (without 

city water)

Low Density-1 
District (with 
city water)

Low Density 
District

TRACT 

Min tract size 10 acres 5 acres 5 acres 5 acres

Min tract frontage 100 ft 100 ft 100 ft 50 ft

Perimeter 
Building 
Setback

From external roads 100 ft 30 ft 30 ft 30 ft

From other tract 
boundaries

50 ft 20 ft 20 ft 20 ft

LOT

Min Lot Area 32,000 sf 16,000 sf 8,000 sf 6,000 sf

Min Road Frontage 40 ft 40 ft 40 ft 40 ft

Min Lot Width at Building Line 75 ft 75 ft 60 ft 60 ft

Min Front Setback 15 ft 15 ft 15 ft 15 ft

Min Rear Setback 20 ft 20 ft 15 ft 15 ft

Min Side Setback 10 ft 10 ft 10 ft 10 ft

Max Building Coverage 30% 35% 40% 45%

Max Impervious Coverage 35% 40% 45% 60%

1 New lots in the Rural District that are created as part of a CRD that are less than 1 acre in size may utilize an approved 
 Subsurface Disposal System

97 of 97


	2023_02_27_pb_agenda_AMENDED
	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA – AMENDED
	Monday, February 27, 2023   6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	I. Call to Order – Roll Call
	II. Minutes of Previous Meetings – January 23, 2023

	2023_1_23_PB_Minutes_MF Edits
	EXP-01-22 & CUHP-01-22_First Extension Request_Received 02-09-23
	S-08-22_First Extension Request_Received 02-17-23
	SPR-870, Mod. 2_First Extension Request_Received 02-22-23
	Granite State Car Wash_Staff Report_draft
	Granite State Car Wash Packet_NO SR.pdf
	Application_Received 01-18-23

	Granite State Car Wash Packet_NO SR
	Narrative & Waiver Request_Received 01-18-23
	Waiver Request_Received 02-08-23
	Response to staff comments_Received 02-08-23
	Plan Set_REVISED (includes revised landscaping plan)_Received 02-14-23_REDUCED
	Elevations_Received 01-18-23_REDUCED
	Traffic Analysis Memo_Received 02-11-23
	Drainage Summary_Received 01-18-23

	Black Brook Rd_Packet_AMENDED.pdf
	Staff Report
	Application Forms_Received 01-20-23

	Black Brook Rd_Packet_AMENDED
	Authorized Agent Letters_Received 01-20-23
	Narratives_Received 01-20-23
	Waiver Request_Received 02-10-23
	Plan Set_REVISED_Received 02-10-23_REDUCED
	Example Elevations & Rendering_Received 01-20-23_REDUCED
	Stormwater Report_Received 01-25-23
	3459.00_DRN_COVER
	Storm Water Management
	Report
	ALL PURPOSE KEENE BUSINESS PARK
	Project Location:
	Tax Map Parcels 221-023 & 024
	Prepared for:


	60 x 420 Drawing 
	60 x 600 Drawing 
	Traffic Memo_Received 02-20-23.pdf
	52985.00 Keene, NH - Black Brook Rd Warehouse - Traffic Assesment 021723
	Introduction
	Trip Generation Methodology
	Trip Distribution
	Conclusion



	Subdivision Amendments Memo_021723
	LDC pages - proposed amendments



